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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Today is

          3  Thursday, June 13th, 2002, and this is a Committee

          4  on Contracts hearing, concerning Intro. No. 108- A,

          5  which is considered the Good Wood Bill.

          6                 My name is Robert Jackson and I am

          7  the Chair of the Contracts Committee. Along with me,

          8  to my left, is Council Member John Liu of Queens.

          9  And the staff that are present this morning with us

         10  are Robert Newman, Counsel to the Committee, he is

         11  to my right.  Barbara Montefel is the Policy

         12  Analyst, way over to my left.  Regina Poreda, our

         13  Financial Analyst, and Caroline Kretz from our

         14  Finance Division of Finance Analyst.

         15                 Good morning, and welcome to this

         16  meeting on the Council's Committee on Contracts.

         17  This morning we will be considering Intro. 108- A, a

         18  bill that would require the City to seek to procure

         19  environmentally preferable building materials and

         20  furniture.  It is well known that healthy forest

         21  play a vital role in the world's environment.

         22  Forest contains at least half of the world's animals

         23  and plant species that produce food and medicine.

         24  Further it is now well settled that climate is

         25  directly linked to the health of the world's forest.
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          2    Dangerous and dramatic climate change caused by

          3  deforestation and the build up of Green House gases

          4  are the subject of great concern in the world today.

          5                 Yet there are still areas in the

          6  world where forest are being irresponsible and many

          7  times illegally damage or destroyed in the name of

          8  profit.  Making matters worse, along with the

          9  destruction of these forest comes the destruction

         10  not only of plants and animals, but also of

         11  indigenous populations and their cultures.

         12                 New Yorkers do not want to contribute

         13  to such destruction.  However, New York City uses a

         14  great deal of wood for projects ranging from

         15  walkways on the Brooklyn Bridge to park benches

         16  throughout the City, including City Hall Park.  And

         17  many of these benches and walkways are made of wood

         18  harvested from tropical forest such as the Amazon.

         19                 There are ways to obtain wood from

         20  forests without destroying them.  Sustainable

         21  foresting or harvesting trees in a way that prevents

         22  the destruction of the forest is at the heart of the

         23  bill that we will be discussing today.

         24                 The bill will first encourage the

         25  City, where practicable, to use environmentally
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          2  preferable alternatives to wood, such as reclaimed

          3  wood products, bio- based materials or recycled

          4  plastic lumber, which by the way, lasts far longer

          5  than any wood, and cost far less to maintain.

          6                 Second, the bill would require that

          7  when the City does decide to use wood for a

          8  particular project that it use wood that has been

          9  certified as having come from a responsibly managed

         10  forest that has not, or will not be destroyed by

         11  poor harvesting practices.  The Administration has

         12  already begun to see the wisdom in using such

         13  certified wood.  Indeed, much of the wood used for

         14  the benches in City Hall Park is certified wood.

         15                 Of course, the bill would provide

         16  exemptions from its provisions if there are

         17  insufficient supply of certified wood, which would

         18  cause a substantial delay to a particular project.

         19  Or if a particular species of wood is required for

         20  historical preservation and that species is not

         21  available in certified form.

         22                 Importantly though, the bill

         23  requirements would help move the timber industry in

         24  the direction of sustainable forestry practices, and

         25  will help ensure that New Yorkers do not contribute
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          2  to deforestation that are devastating effects for

          3  generations to come.

          4                 I want to thank Speaker Miller for

          5  his wisdom and insight in introducing this

          6  legislation, and for the opportunity to be a part of

          7  the process of creating a system that will protect

          8  the future for all children of the world.  As you

          9  can see by the number of people lined up to testify,

         10  there are many opinions about this matter, however,

         11  I believe that while we might disagree on how to get

         12  there, we are all in agreement as to the goals of

         13  this bill, encouraging sustainable forestry.

         14                 We will first hear from the Mayor's

         15  Office of Contracts.  Thank you.

         16                 And I would like to remind all

         17  speakers that we are requesting that you stay within

         18  the limit of three minutes, which is the time period

         19  of all individuals to testify.  I know that many of

         20  you will have written submission, and I ask you,

         21  please, if you can refrain from reading your

         22  testimony in the record, by submitting it, it will

         23  be part of the record.  If you can summarize your

         24  testimony, that would be very, very helpful to us

         25  all.
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          2                 With that, I would just like to take

          3  the first witness.  Robert.

          4                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please raise your right

          5  hand?  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that the

          6  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, I do.

          9                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your name

         10  and affiliation for the record?

         11                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Jeffrey Weinstien,

         12  the Acting Director of the Mayor's Office of

         13  Contracts.

         14                 Good morning.  My name is Jeffrey

         15  Weinstein, Acting Director of the Mayor's Office of

         16  Contracts and the Acting City Chief Procurement

         17  Officer.  I want to thank you for the opportunity to

         18  testify today on Intro. 108.

         19                 Intro. 108 requires, with certain

         20  exceptions, that the City purchase all wood used for

         21  building materials or furniture only from a forest

         22  that is certified by an independent organization

         23  that has conducted an assessment of that forest

         24  management practices and environmental performance.

         25  In addition, Intro. 108 requires the contractor to
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          2  provide a chain- of- custody certification linking

          3  all such wood products to their forest of origin.

          4  This procedure is intended to enable the City to

          5  know whether it is purchasing wood products that

          6  originate from responsibly managed forests.

          7                 This bill is, by all means, well-

          8  intentioned.  It promotes important goals, such as

          9  recognizing the key role forests play in the global

         10  environment, reducing deforestation, and improving

         11  forest management and conservation.  The

         12  Administration agrees with these goals, and

         13  therefore, recognizes that it is important to seek

         14  out appropriate ways to increase the use of

         15  environmentally preferable building materials.  We

         16  do, however, have concerns about the means by which

         17  this bill proposes to achieve these goals.

         18                 Since the beginning of this

         19  Administration, we have worked closely with the

         20  Council and other stakeholders to reform the City's

         21  procurement system so that we can buy what we need

         22  better, faster and cheaper.  As part of this effort,

         23  we have been examining ways to eliminate or reduce

         24  unnecessary paper work and procedures associated

         25  with the procurement process in order to minimize
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          2  bureaucratic burdens on both vendors and City

          3  agencies. In fact, just last week the Council help

          4  realize some of these goals by passing a Legislative

          5  Reform Package that will begin to remove obstacles

          6  facing companies and non- profit organizations

          7  seeking to do business with the City.  Intro. 108,

          8  however, in its present form, will roll back this

          9  progress by creating a complex bureaucratic super

         10  structure for virtually every City contract.

         11                 We have canvassed a number of key

         12  operating agencies in the City, for example the

         13  Department of City- wide Administrative Services,

         14  the Department of Design and Construction, the

         15  Department of Transposition, and the Department of

         16  Parks and Recreation, all of which agreed that this

         17  bill, if passed, would have a substantial impact on

         18  their work.  They believe that the certification

         19  requirement would discourage vendors from doing

         20  business with the City, and that inevitably shrinks

         21  competition, drives up prices, and drives down

         22  quality.  In addition, the proposed reporting

         23  requirements, which are onerous, would dilute and

         24  divert already scarce agency resources.

         25                 We also have concerns that this bill

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  will violate the New York State General Municipal

          3  Law.  The certification requirements of this bill

          4  are designed to ensure that wood products come from

          5  responsibly managed forests, and that the chain- of

          6  custody to these forests remains intact.  The

          7  certification requirements, however, are not based

          8  upon the quality of the wood, itself, but rather on

          9  its origin.  Where there is no applicable exception,

         10  for example, lack of availability of certified wood,

         11  emergencies, historical restorations, federal

         12  inconsistency, and small purchases, then only a

         13  substantial cost difference would justify the

         14  purchase of non- certified wood.  I understand that

         15  the standard of substantial cost difference has now

         16  been revised to a cost difference that exceeds 15

         17  percent in the Intro. 108- A version, which was not

         18  made available to us in sufficient time to fully

         19  review.  This circumstance, which requires the City

         20  to purchase certified wood that is more expensive

         21  than non- certified wood of the same quality

         22  violates the New York State General Municipal Laws

         23  requirement that the City award contracts to the

         24  lowest responsive and responsible bidder.

         25                 Intro. 108 is virtually all-
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          2  encompassing in its application to the City's

          3  purchase of products made out of wood. It also

          4  applies to any contract that requires the use of a

          5  wood product for a building material or furniture

          6  article.  As a result, Intro. 108 would apply to

          7  contracts for the direct purchase of any such wood

          8  product, as well as to those thousands of contracts

          9  that only include incidentally use of such wood

         10  products.  Let me give you some examples of the

         11  bill's implications because it is so broadly worded:

         12                 If the Administration for Children's

         13  Services purchases the services of a not- for-

         14  profit organization to provide an after- school

         15  program to students, then the desks used by the

         16  students would be affected.

         17                 If the Department for the Aging

         18  contracts to renovate the facilities of a senior

         19  center, then everything from the scaffolding on the

         20  exterior of the building to the cabinets and the

         21  front door would be affected.

         22                 It also means that wood supplied or

         23  installed by every contractor, subcontractor and

         24  supplier throughout the entire supply chain that

         25  participates in the City contract would be bound by
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          2  the requirements of this bill.

          3                 This is overreaching and

          4  counterproductive.

          5                 The bill's chain- of- custody

          6  certification provision requires that the wood

          7  product be monitored from the forest through the

          8  entire manufacturing process, a likely expensive and

          9  time consuming process that may not be readily

         10  achievable.  In addition, a number of the bills

         11  mandatory eligibility requirements, which would have

         12  to be used to qualify forest certification programs,

         13  seem overly broad and attempt to set social and

         14  economic policy in the global marketplace.

         15                 Aside from the additional costs

         16  associated with the certification requirements, the

         17  length of time it will take to comply properly will

         18  likely cause significant delays.  Agencies have

         19  reported that projects may be delayed because of the

         20  limited supply of certified wood products available

         21  and because of the length of time it would take for

         22  agencies to properly monitor and track compliance.

         23                 In summary, aside from the violation

         24  of the New York State General Municipal Law, the

         25  passage of this bill will likely increase costs,
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          2  delay projects, and burden a procurement system that

          3  is greatly in need of streamlining, not additional

          4  procedural requirements.  We need to work together

          5  to craft a program that will lawfully achieve the

          6  goals of this bill without imposing an undue burden

          7  on vendors or agencies.  A program which focuses

          8  more on setting policy goals than means, perhaps

          9  embodied in a resolution rather than a law.

         10  Agencies are already sensitive to the environmental

         11  concerns raised by this bill.  We should work to

         12  build on that and heighten their awareness and

         13  encourage them to continue to seek acceptable

         14  alternatives to achieve the goals of this bill.

         15                 One way to do this might be to have

         16  the City's Procurement Training Institute enhance

         17  its current course offering on environmentally

         18  preferable purchasing.  Another is to examine how

         19  the private sector may be meeting these needs in a

         20  streamline, unintrusive way.  Pilot efforts might

         21  also be useful ways to learn what works best here.

         22  We are ready to work with the Council to come up

         23  with a workable and common sense solution.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Weinstein. John, do you have any questions?  Council

          3  Member John Liu.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes, thanks for

          5  coming down this morning.  I guess you are saying

          6  that its better to encourage the agencies to adopt

          7  an environmentally preferable purchasing? That is

          8  one of the conclusions that you have in your

          9  comments.

         10                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Within the parameters

         11  of what we can do, that is, within existing New York

         12  State Law, that would definitely be one approach,

         13  right now.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  But you are also

         15  saying that, it's too difficult for the agencies to

         16  have to follow those kinds of practices.

         17                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  If they were lawful,

         18  we think that the reporting requirements and the

         19  procedures that are set out in this bill are

         20  certainly onerous, extraordinarily time consuming,

         21  would drain resources, which are shrinking, and

         22  would inevitably result in a smaller universe of

         23  bidders, which means higher prices, longer lead

         24  times for projects, and probably reduce quality.

         25                 But again, within the context that
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          2  the bill on its face conflicts with New York State

          3  Law.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I'm just not

          5  sure what you mean by draining resources.  I mean,

          6  will it take additional effort to certify that good

          7  wood is being used?  Yes, absolutely.  But I am not

          8  sure about how much, in terms of resources will be

          9  drained by that effort.  I mean any kind of effort

         10  requires effort, and we are saying that the City of

         11  New York should make some kind of effort to ensure

         12  that the materials that we use and the furniture

         13  that we buy here does not contribute to unsound

         14  environmental practices throughout the world.  And

         15  if you are saying that, does that effort require

         16  effort, yes, it does.  An effort requires effort.

         17                 Does it drain the resources of an

         18  agency or the various City agencies that would be

         19  involved?  I do not know, I think we need to be more

         20  clear on that.  Because none of us want to drain the

         21  resources of our City agencies.  But effort does

         22  require effort.

         23                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, effort requires

         24  effort.  And it is a question of balancing how much

         25  effort is worth the outcome. But what we wanted to
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          2  point out is that this is a bill that has

          3  significant impacts on operations, on workloads, on

          4  pricing, on scheduling.  It's not going to come

          5  free.

          6                 And even if it were lawful, it would

          7  have those same impacts.  And that needs to weighed

          8  against the potential benefits.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Liu.  Mr. Weinstein, you claim that the requirement

         13  of the 15 percent premium, either you believe

         14  violates or violates the State Law; is that correct?

         15                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  That is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But yet under

         17  the current law the City is required to buy only

         18  recycled paper, unless it costs more than 10 percent

         19  than non- recycled paper.  Isn't that correct?

         20                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  That is correct.  And

         21  my understanding - -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And so my

         23  question is to you,- -

         24                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: - -  how is that
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          2  different? If we have a law in place that requires

          3  us to buy recycled paper unless it exceeds 10

          4  percent more than what it would normally cost of

          5  non- recycled paper.  If we, the City Council, which

          6  is the Legislative Body of the City of New York,

          7  decided that we want to use certified wood as a

          8  policy of the City of New York, unless it exceeds 15

          9  percent, how is that different other than just the 5

         10  percent that we are referring to?

         11                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Because there is New

         12  York State Statute on the books which provide for

         13  that recycling.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         15                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  So we are operating

         16  within the parameters of New York State Law there,

         17  that specifically provides for an exception for

         18  recycling, if you will.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  But then

         20  if we establish law, which we have the authority to

         21  do in New York City, what difference would that

         22  mean?  I mean if there is State Law that says

         23  recycling 10 percent, and then we established a

         24  local law, you believe that that would violate the

         25  State Law?
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          2                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Because the local law

          3  that the City does have for recycling, which does

          4  provide for the payment of additional costs for

          5  certain types of products, is provided for under

          6  State Law.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          8                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  What is contemplated

          9  under this bill, is not.  And there in lies the

         10  conflict with the other State General Municipal Law.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  So in

         12  essence you are sort of indicating, if in fact this

         13  law was passed, then you or the Mayor would consider

         14  challenging our right to establish this law. Is that

         15  what I'm hearing?

         16                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  I am not going to

         17  speculate on what the Administration might do.  I am

         18  just sort of stating the facts that if this law were

         19  adopted as is, it would be contrary to State Law.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I see.  Well, I

         21  just want to ask a question as far as our right.  I

         22  mean I look at this law, if in fact the City Council

         23  passes this law, the City Council is sending a

         24  message to the entire City and to the world of how

         25  we are going to do business.
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          2                 I remember going back when the City

          3  of New York and a lot of other municipalities

          4  established a law that you could not do business

          5  with a firm that was doing business in South Africa

          6  as far as apartheid.  You remember that, right?  So

          7  I think that, you know, we understand that it may be

          8  more expensive to do business, and it may be more

          9  onerous on the part of the agency heads that must

         10  carry out the business of this City, but I think

         11  though that when we determine that it is in the best

         12  interest of the City of New York as far as the

         13  people of the City of New York, and the people of

         14  the world that may be negatively impacted on this,

         15  and we decide that, and that is a decision that we

         16  make.  And we do not make that in a vacuum.

         17  Obviously, this is a hearing today in order to hear

         18  all parties testimonies concerning this proposed

         19  law.  And I am open to try to see what other people

         20  see that I do not see in order to try to understand

         21  where they are coming from in order to make the

         22  right decision.

         23                 Any comment, I'm sorry.

         24                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  We would agree.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  I would
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          2  just like to introduce other members that are

          3  present this morning.  To my right, Council Member

          4  Margarita Lopez from Manhattan.  To my left, Council

          5  Member Addabbo from the great Borough of Queens, and

          6  Council Member Clarke, to my left, from the great

          7  Borough of Brooklyn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Manhattan is

          9  not also great?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Manhattan is

         11  always great, you know that.  Any questions from any

         12  Council members?  Hearing none, I would like to

         13  thank you very much for your testimony.

         14                 MR. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you.

         15                 MR. NEWMAN:  The next panel is

         16  Luvindra Nauth Sukhraj, Rufino Meraz, Edward Daly,

         17  Tom Nosker and Hank Cauley.

         18                 Please raise your right hands?  Do

         19  you solemnly swear or affirm that the testimony you

         20  are about to give is the truth, the whole truth and

         21  nothing but the truth?

         22                 ALL: I do.

         23                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your names

         24  and affiliations for the record?  To turn the mic

         25  on, you press the button, when the light is off, the
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          2  mic is on.

          3                 MR. DALY:  Edward Daly with the

          4  Consumer's Choice Council.

          5                 MR. NAUTH SUKHRAJ:  Luvindra Nauth

          6  Sukhraj, Barama Company Limited, Guyana.

          7                 MR. CAULEY:  Hank Cauley, Executive

          8  Director - - I'm sorry.  Hank Cauley, Executive

          9  Director of Forest Stewardship Council, United

         10  States.

         11                 MR. NOSKER:  Tom Nosker.  I'm an

         12  engineering professor from Rutgers University.

         13                 MR. MERAZ:  Rufino Meraz, Ejibo

         14  Pueblo Nuevo, Mexico.

         15                 MR. LUDVIK:  Carl Ludvik with the

         16  Certifor in Durango, Mexico.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, good

         18  morning, and thank you for coming in to testify.

         19  And who is going to begin first? Just pull the mic

         20  up close to you, and you are ready, we are ready to

         21  listen to you.

         22                 MR. DALY:  My name is Edward Daly

         23  with the Consumer's Choice Council.  I would like to

         24  speak first, and then have Hank Cauley speak, Mr.

         25  Sukhraj, and then Mr. Nosker, if that is all right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you pull

          3  the mic up a little closer to you, just pull it up,

          4  don't be afraid.

          5                 MR. DALY:  I submitted my testimony,

          6  so I would like to just make a few remarks related

          7  to what the Mayor's Office said earlier in their

          8  testimony.  It was very good to hear from the

          9  Mayor's Office, and I think they had some very good

         10  suggestions about pilot projects.  And we would

         11  certainly like to work with them to address their

         12  concerns, and try an make it a bill that they can

         13  support.

         14                 Having said that, I think that as the

         15  Chairman said, procurement has been so important in

         16  the past to social environmental change.  And the

         17  legislation that we are discussing today represents

         18  an important step for our society towards more

         19  sustainable economy.  In town meetings and hearings,

         20  not that different from this one, local governments

         21  have played a crucial in developing some of the most

         22  important advances for citizens in the US and of the

         23  world.  And in the journeys to end the apartheid in

         24  South Africa, create a living wage standard in the

         25  US, develop markets for recycled product, and even
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          2  back to freeing the colonies from the yoke of

          3  England, the first steps were taken by Committees

          4  like this one.

          5                 I would like to say that in reference

          6  to some of the cost issues that the Mayor raised,

          7  and we believe, and I think Hank Cauley can address

          8  some of those issues, that the cost are not that

          9  different between certified and uncertified wood,

         10  but somebody is going to pay the cost.  And if you

         11  are not buying certified wood there is good chance

         12  that you are buying wood from illegally harvested

         13  forest.  There is no guarantee that labor rights

         14  have been addressed, communities have been

         15  consulted, the abuses of indigenous, land rights and

         16  tenure rights, and the bill we are looking at today

         17  would make sure that the City is buying the most

         18  sustainable wood products they can.  And making sure

         19  that they are part of the solution, rather than part

         20  of the problem.

         21                 I would also just say that the bill

         22  is not all encompassing as the Mayor's Office said.

         23  It does just apply to building products and

         24  furniture.  I do no think you are forced to pay a

         25  higher price, there is a premium in there, but as I
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          2  said, many times I think the prices will be similar.

          3    And we do not believe that there is a conflict

          4  with the lowest responsible bidder.

          5                 And with that I would just like to

          6  turn it over to Hank Cauley.

          7                 MR. CAULEY:  Good morning.  I would

          8  actually like to start at a point that you brought

          9  up, and that is, the City Council sending a message,

         10  and the courage to take a bold leadership move. In

         11  today's Wall Street Journal there is a long article

         12  on page A4, which is, Americans Distrust

         13  Institutions in Poll, it was Wall Street Journal,

         14  NBC poll that was taken over the last few days that

         15  showed how little regard Americans have right now

         16  for business executives, for government and for

         17  religious institutions.

         18                 One of the important ways in which

         19  the City Council could send a message to consumers

         20  and to the people of New York that they are

         21  concerned about, you know, what the purchases that

         22  they are making is to embrace certification,

         23  independent, third party certification is a way to

         24  rebuild that social contract between the people of

         25  New York and the City government of New York.
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          2                 In particular, and where FSC is the

          3  most rigorous certification program in the world is

          4  particularly strong is in the issue of illegal

          5  logging.  The world's great forest ecosystems are

          6  under siege from destructive logging practices,

          7  particularly those that are illegal.  From the great

          8  Northern Forest to the US Northeast to the Tropical

          9  Rainforest to the Amazon, one particular danger of

         10  non- certified forestry is purchasing illegally

         11  harvested wood.  A recent United Nations report

         12  outlined the widespread problem of illegal logging.

         13                 In particular, in my testimony, which

         14  I submitted, also has this.  You know, Brazil is an

         15  excellent example where 80 percent of all logging in

         16  the Brazilian Amazon is illegal. According to the

         17  Brazilian secretary of strategic affairs.  Earlier

         18  this year the Brazilian government shut down the

         19  national mahogany trade citing rampant illegal

         20  logging controlled by the Mahogany Mafia.  Only land

         21  certified by the independent, you know, global at

         22  Forest Stewardship Council is open to trading, at

         23  this point, from Brazil.

         24                 There is a Wall Street Journal

         25  article that notes the strength of FSC in Brazil,
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          2  that I have submitted, as well.

          3                 The last thing I would like to talk

          4  about, is the representative from the City talked

          5  about, you know, the cost and the cost issue.  I

          6  guess I have two things to say about that.

          7                 The first is that, you know, as a

          8  number of people, as you will hear from a number of

          9  folks today, certification is becoming a cost of

         10  doing business in the forest industry.  Going back

         11  to my original comment, that social bond between the

         12  forest industry and the general public, that was

         13  ripped about years ago. Certification is a way to

         14  rebuild that social bond.

         15                 In terms of the cost, yes, there is

         16  some cost in some areas.  It does not always

         17  necessarily translate into an increase in prices.

         18  Home Depot is a major supporter of the FSC as is

         19  Lowes, as are many other large manufacturing

         20  companies, and they are giving preference to

         21  companies that offer certified wood.  And Home

         22  Depot, if you do not know about this, is really

         23  rough on their suppliers, they are not about to pay

         24  more for certified wood.

         25                 So for those companies that are
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          2  getting certified, they are eating some of the cost

          3  or passing on the wood at a fair price and a

          4  competitive price.

          5                 So, you know, in summary, you know,

          6  the wave of the future, it's a bold leadership step

          7  for the Administration to take in terms of embracing

          8  certification.  It addresses problems of illegal

          9  logging, and it is really not something that can be

         10  done or necessarily should be done at higher prices.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. NOSKER:  Hi, I'm Tom Nosker, and

         13  I'm an engineering professor at Rutgers University.

         14  And I appreciate having the opportunity to come

         15  here.  I live in New Jersey, which is not New York.

         16  So anyway, the last time I had the honor of speaking

         17  in front of the leadership of New York City was

         18  about 10 years ago, when there was a problem with

         19  not enough recycled materials, too much material

         20  going to landfill.  And New York City considered

         21  building a pier out of recycled plastic.  And in

         22  fact, I'm the first person to make recycled plastic

         23  lumber in North America, I began that about 15 years

         24  ago.  And so 10 years ago, the City of New York

         25  decided to build Tiffany Street Pier, which is at
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          2  Hunts Point in the Bronx, and it remains really the

          3  largest recycled plastic, totally recycled plastic

          4  structure anywhere in the world.  And it is about

          5  410 feet long, and about 50 feet wide, and it is

          6  gorgeous.  And I encourage you to go see it.

          7                 As I recall that structure cost about

          8  30 percent more than if it was made out of

          9  traditional materials at that time. Well 10 years is

         10  a long time in any industry, and the plastic lumber

         11  industry was fledgling at that point.  Now it is

         12  about a $100 million a year industry.  A lot of work

         13  has been done, more structural materials have been

         14  produced and are being produced out of recycled

         15  plastic replacing creosote treated oak, which is the

         16  standard material for railroad ties.  And in fact,

         17  the City of Chicago has got over 40,000 railroad

         18  ties made from recycled material that they have

         19  procured within the last four or five years.  And

         20  they started very slowly and then moved on.

         21                 New York, I know, has got a lot of

         22  recycled plastic benches and things out there.  And

         23  10 years ago I offered to help in any way that I

         24  could.  I never received a dime, we did a lot of

         25  testing for the Department of General Services, and
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          2  I offer the same help again.  Things have come a

          3  long way, there are, American Society for testing

          4  and materials test methods that have been

          5  established for plastic lumber that are published in

          6  ASTM books. Engineers know how to specify the

          7  material based on performance, mechanical

          8  properties.  These materials do not degraded rapidly

          9  at all, and in almost all cases they will last quite

         10  a bit longer than the standard, either chemically

         11  treated wood, which is not good, or Rainforest wood,

         12  which I think is not good for the environment.

         13                 And there are also standards, not

         14  just test methods, but also some standards, and

         15  there is a structural standard that is about to be

         16  out for plastic lumber to be used as structural

         17  materials.

         18                 I work with the Army and with the

         19  State of New York and other places.  We built

         20  vehicular bridges out of plastic, recycled plastic

         21  lumber.  And we are continuing to, you know, develop

         22  new things.  I am now the Principal Investigator of

         23  a Research Center, and that is part of the thing I

         24  do, which is plastic lumber related.

         25                 But anyway, I think you, the City has
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          2  done the right thing in the past, and I think that,

          3  I'm sure you will do the right thing in the future.

          4                 So thank you very much.  And I still

          5  offer my help.

          6                 MR. SUKHRAJ:  Good morning, my name

          7  is Luvindra Nauth Sukhraj.  I am representing Barama

          8  Company Limited of Guyana, South America.  And I am

          9  extremely honored to testify before this honorable

         10  Committee.  And I am here to testify in support of

         11  the bill.

         12                 Forest in Guyana occupies about 7 to

         13  6 percent of the total land area.  And it

         14  contributes about 4 percent of the national GDP.

         15  This is definitely an under- utilization of these

         16  resources.  But it probably represents in the future

         17  the industry with the greatest potential to

         18  contribute significant economic and social

         19  development of our country, and especially assisting

         20  poverty alleviation.  However, this only can be

         21  realized if the development of the forestry industry

         22  and the harvesting of the resource is done in an

         23  acceptable manner and ensure long- term

         24  sustainability.

         25                 We definitely feel that
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          2  certification, and especially FSC certification is

          3  probably the best available tool. I am sure that

          4  this can happen.

          5                 New York City has always supported

          6  Guyana economically and socially and is home to a

          7  very large population of Guyanese people who

          8  contribute in a great manner to the development of

          9  Guyana.  However, I think if New York City makes a

         10  decision to buy certified wood from countries like

         11  Guyana, you are going to in a very direct and

         12  profound way, assist in our, contribute to the

         13  development of the country economically and

         14  socially.

         15                 The company I work for, Barama

         16  Company Limited, is an international company in

         17  Guyana and the largest company in the forestry

         18  sector and wants to do exactly that, assist in the

         19  development of Guyana and contribute significantly

         20  to the development of the people economically,

         21  socially and assist in alleviating poverty.

         22                 We employ about 1,200 people

         23  directly.  And we account for about 56 percent of

         24  the total value of forest products exported from

         25  Guyana in 2001.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 We have decided that we must become

          3  certified, we want to be a good cooperate citizen,

          4  and we think that the ideals embodied by

          5  certification is good and it is the right thing to

          6  do. And we sell approximately 50 percent of our

          7  products, primarily plywood and sun lumber which are

          8  made from a lot of less unknown species, species

          9  prior to 1992, which were not being harvested. And

         10  as I said, 50 percent of our products are sold into

         11  the US, where the consumers are increasingly, are

         12  becoming increasingly conscious of the environmental

         13  and social issues and are coming back to us and

         14  saying, what do you have so that you can verify to

         15  us that whatever you are doing in the forest in

         16  Guyana and the labor you are using, is, you know,

         17  done in an international acceptable manner.  So we

         18  have decided that we must become certified.  And we

         19  are going to become certified probably in another

         20  six to eight months.

         21                 New York City used to be a major

         22  destination of Guyana's wood products, especially

         23  sold greenheart, et cetera. This market has over the

         24  years gradually decreased to a point where there is

         25  very little hardwoods from Guyana coming into New
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          2  York now.  One of the main reasons is that the

          3  companies back in Guyana could not successfully

          4  compete with substitute products or wood coming from

          5  other sources.  Primarily because our harvesting

          6  rate in Guyana, is, we harvest about two to four

          7  trees per hect year, and a cutting cycle of 40 to 60

          8  years.  So as you can see in terms of cubic meter we

          9  take out probably between four to ten cubic meter

         10  per hect year, every four to six years.  So we do

         11  not take out the quantity, say 100 cubic meters or

         12  60 cubic meter, whatever.  So if you go to Guyana

         13  you see that the forestry remains in a very good

         14  state, if you fly over, you can think it is an

         15  unjust pristine forest.

         16                 So we want to maintain that, and we

         17  want to continue doing that.  But to continue doing

         18  that we must continue harvesting at this very low

         19  rate that we have been doing.  And certification for

         20  these companies access the market to continue doing

         21  that.  If New York City decides that, well, look we

         22  will just buy any wood from any source, you know,

         23  and these companies have to compete with companies

         24  that probably are not engaging good practices, they

         25  are probably clear filling the forest, et cetera, it
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          2  just will not work.  And you are going to see,

          3  people might decide that look, we will just clear

          4  the forest and get into agriculture, probably gold

          5  mining or something like that.  So you are going to

          6  contribute, if the legislation does not go through

          7  supporting good wood practices, you are probably

          8  going to contribute significantly to forest

          9  degradation and demise of, you know, social

         10  standards, et cetera.

         11                 So I think if you support the bill

         12  you are going to contribute significantly to the

         13  economic development of the country and other

         14  countries such as Guyana, and you are going to

         15  contribute significantly to poverty alleviation, you

         16  are going to ensure that the person employed in the

         17  forestry sector earn or the standard of work is of

         18  an internationally acceptable standard, and you are

         19  going to continue, you are going to allow us to

         20  continue our low rate of harvest and ensure the

         21  forest remains in an almost pristine state forever.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Did

         24  you come up from Guyana to give testimony today?

         25                 MR. SUKHRAJ:  Yes, I did.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You did.  Whoa,

          3  thank you for coming so far to testify and to give

          4  your point view on this particular bill.  We

          5  appreciate that.

          6                 Before I continue with the next

          7  witness, I would like to introduce another member of

          8  the Contracts Committee, Dr. Kendall Stewart from

          9  the great Borough of Brooklyn, Dr. Stewart. And also

         10  I forgot to mention my staff, my Chief of Staff and

         11  General Counsel, Susan Russell, sorry, Susan.

         12                 Okay, next witness, please.

         13                 MR. LUDVIK:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14    My name is Carl Ludvik, and I represent Certifor,

         15  which is the Association for the Promotion of

         16  Sustainable Forestry.  Certifor is a non- profit,

         17  non- governmental organization that we created and

         18  has recently been recognized by the Forest

         19  Stewardship Council as it representative for the

         20  Country of Mexico, or it's National Initiative, as

         21  it is called.  And one of the reasons for setting up

         22  Certifor and moving its offices to Durango is that

         23  Durango is first of all, Durango State is one of the

         24  major forestry areas in Mexico.  It has

         25  approximately 12 million acres of fine oak forest,
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          2  which is owned and managed by what we call in

          3  Mexico, ejidos, e- j- i- d- o- s, an ejido is a

          4  Cooperative World Community Association.  And

          5  throughout the country they control at least 80 to

          6  90 percent of the forest lands.

          7                 We have started in Durango on the

          8  certification process roughly in 1996 with three

          9  small ejidos accounting for about, only about 40,000

         10  acres, and we are all new at the process, not only

         11  the ejidos, but including those of us who are

         12  promoting the certification,  but it worked out.

         13  And it set a model, it set an example for the other

         14  ejidos in the area.  And today we have come a long

         15  way in a very short period of time.  In Mexico, as a

         16  whole, there are almost three million acres of,

         17  hectors, I'm sorry, of forest that is certified and

         18  about half of that is in Durango, and that is

         19  accounted for by approximately 22 ejidos in Durango

         20  and nearly 50 other ejido rural communities

         21  throughout the country.

         22                 It has picked up a lot of momentum

         23  and there are very specific reasons along the way.

         24                 1.  When we started that it was

         25  primarily to produce, to use the old, to make the
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          2  bar- b- que charcoal that was exported to Europe as

          3  a certified charcoal.  But that is, of course, one

          4  of the residual products from the forest.

          5                 And then when Home Depot announced

          6  that its policy of switching to certified products,

          7  of course, this sparked even more interest in

          8  Mexico.  And today, it is not only the ejidos who

          9  enthusiastically support good sustainable forest

         10  management, but also now the industrial companies in

         11  Durango who process the wood into moldings and

         12  furniture and plywood that is much of which is much

         13  of what is exported to the United States.

         14                 As an example of the impact that it

         15  has on the local communities, my colleague here,

         16  Rufina Meraz is a member of the Ejido Pueblo Nuevo,

         17  and I would like to have him make some comments on

         18  the direct impact.

         19                 The Ejido Pueblo Nuevo is one of the

         20  more important ones in the Country and it is really

         21  a model for other ejidos throughout the Country.

         22  And just as much, I think it would be, if I may,

         23  give you some personal information about Rufino

         24  Meraz, because he is not new to this, to the

         25  business of protecting the forest.  His grandfather
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          2  began the process of organizing hundreds of local

          3  communities into an Ejido community in 1931,

          4  following the Mexican Revolution and the passage of

          5  the Land Reform Act.  It was difficult and it was

          6  not until 1968, by which time Rufino's father had

          7  taken over and continued the process, and when they

          8  gained formal recognition as an Ejido with hundreds

          9  of local communities.

         10                 Rufino received an education in

         11  forestry engineering.  And then he has used his

         12  abilities to create a technical department within

         13  the Ejido that now has 40 professionals and provides

         14  technical assistance to the communities throughout

         15  the Ejido, not only in forest management, but also

         16  in social management in educational matters, and in

         17  public services.

         18                 So, if I may, I would like to pass

         19  onto Rufino Meraz as a representative of Ejido

         20  Pueblo Nuevo?  Rufino.

         21                 Oh, excuse me, I have to say just one

         22  thing, Rufino does not speak English, and so we are

         23  going to work this together.            CHAIRPERSON

         24  JACKSON:  That is okay.

         25                 MR. LUDVIK:  He speaks Spanish, and I
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          2  will translate it as we go along.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  A lot of us do

          4  not speak other languages, so we have to be tolerant

          5  of each other.

          6                 MR. LUDVIK:  Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In my community

          8  where the majority is Latino, Spanish is the primary

          9  language.  So I'm in a community where the secondary

         10  language is English.  So I'm familiar with having

         11  hearings where there is continuous translation.  And

         12  if you have never experienced that it takes twice as

         13  long, sometimes two and a half times long and that

         14  really shows that we, as the people of this country,

         15  must be tolerant and patient in order to understand

         16  others.  So please, please speak in your primary

         17  language.

         18                 MR. LUDVIK:  Thank you.  Rufino.

         19                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         20                 MR. LUDVIK:  Good morning.  I am here

         21  representing the Ejido Pueblo Nuevo, which is a

         22  social organization in Mexico.

         23                 MR. MERAZ: (In Spanish).

         24                 MR. LUDVIK:  The Ejido had its

         25  beginnings in 1931 and it has 1,500 members being
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          2  dedicated to the production to management of the

          3  forest.

          4                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          5                 MR. LUDVIK:  The organization is a

          6  little bit strange in that all decisions are made on

          7  a consensus basis by, at assemblies of the members.

          8                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          9                 MR. LUDVIK:  And there is a governing

         10  body, but it is not really authorized to act without

         11  the consensus of the members.

         12                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         13                 MR. LUDVIK:  However, the Ejidos in

         14  the El Sato and Durango area under this system have

         15  progressed industrially and socially.

         16                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         17                 MR. LUDVIK:  The State of Durango is

         18  the primary forest area in Mexico.

         19                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         20                 MR. LUDVIK:  And the Ejido Pueblo

         21  Nuevo is the largest Ejido.

         22                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         23                 MR. LUDVIK:  When we became aware of

         24  forest certification as a way of managing the

         25  forest,
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          2                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish)

          3                 MR. LUDVIK:  We were interested in

          4  the significance of the voluntary certification

          5  program.

          6                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          7                 MR. LUDVIK:  In 1998 we initiated

          8  contact with the Forest Stewardship Council.

          9                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         10                 MR. LUDVIK:  And in 2000.

         11                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         12                 MR. LUDVIK:  We signed the contract

         13  for certification with the Smart Wood Program of the

         14  Rainforest Alliance.

         15                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         16                 MR. LUDVIK:  We were motivated by two

         17  factors to go into certification.

         18                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         19                 MR. LUDVIK:  For us it is very

         20  important.

         21                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         22                 MR. LUDVIK:  And on a global basis it

         23  is well known that forest have been degraded, and in

         24  the composenoes (phonetic), the people who live in

         25  the forest, were not.
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          2                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          3                 MR. LUDVIK:  This was one of our

          4  motivations for seeking certification.

          5                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          6                 MR. LUDVIK:  Secondly we have little

          7  experience in exporting forest products.

          8                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          9                 MR. LUDVIK:  We want to explore this

         10  possibility.

         11                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         12                 MR. LUDVIK:  That could become an

         13  important means of progress for the Ejido.

         14                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         15                 MR. LUDVIK:  The objectives of the

         16  Ejido are primarily social.

         17                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         18                 MR. LUDVIK:  Since the benefits and

         19  the earnings of the Ejido are divided among the

         20  members,

         21                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         22                 MR. LUDVIK:  And other benefits are

         23  made available to the rural communities that

         24  comprise the Ejido.

         25                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).
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          2                 MR. LUDVIK:  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well I want to

          4  thank all of the panel members for coming to testify

          5  this morning.  Senior, did you come from Mexico to

          6  testify to this hearing?

          7                 MR. LUDVIK:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You came from

          9  Mexico.

         10                 MR. LUDVIK:  Both of us came from

         11  Mexico.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Both of you.

         13  Well thank you for coming to give your testimony on

         14  this very important issue. And with that I would

         15  like to recognize my colleague from the great, great

         16  Borough of Manhattan, Council Member Margarita

         17  Lopez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I'm very glad

         19  that you fixed that.  I am beginning to be offended

         20  about the business of the great Borough of Brooklyn,

         21  the great Borough of the Bronx, when we are the

         22  greatest in Manhattan.

         23                 (In Spanish).

         24                 The question that I asked, is that, I

         25  am not a person who is signing on this bill, and I
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          2  had not been a sponsor of this bill, because I am

          3  concerned about the impact that this have over the

          4  economy of other countries outside of the United

          5  States. I am also very concerned about the portray

          6  of other countries outside the United States that

          7  our portray here in the United States like the

          8  farmers do not know what they do, they do not care

          9  for the mother land, they are just destroying the

         10  forests out there, and I am one that knows that that

         11  is not true.  That if it is somebody who understand

         12  mother land is the people in all of those countries.

         13

         14                 Then my question to you is, if you

         15  believe that this particular piece of legislation is

         16  going to help your country and not undermine it, if

         17  you believe this piece of legislation will

         18  contribute to a better control of the forest and it

         19  is not going to be in detriment of the economy in

         20  your area and the particular community that you come

         21  from?

         22                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I need to

         24  translate what you said, for the benefit of my

         25  colleagues because they have a disadvantage over you
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          2  and I, they do not speak Spanish.

          3                 (In Spanish).  Okay.

          4                 You heard my question and he

          5  indicated that in the country and in the particular

          6  locality they understand that the only resource that

          7  they have for their own economy come from the

          8  forest.  And based on the forest they understand

          9  that if they do not preserve and take care of it,

         10  the economy resources that they take from there will

         11  greatly impact on them in a detrimental way.

         12  Therefore, they are concerned about compliance with

         13  new conditions that are put in the market, and they

         14  are also concerned to comply with them for two

         15  reasons.

         16                 For the reason of the compliance and

         17  for the reason to preserve their own resources.

         18                 Now he still did not answer my

         19  question, and I need to bug him again with this.

         20                 (In Spanish).

         21                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay, I asked

         23  if the particular conditions are going to be putting

         24  some pressure on them and some unwanted new

         25  regulations that will create problems?
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          2                 He indicated that he does not believe

          3  that.  He believes that this regulation will be

          4  fine, and that they will be okay with it and it will

          5  be helpful, instead of detrimental.

          6                 (In Spanish).

          7                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.  (In

          9  Spanish).

         10                 MR. MERAZ:  (In Spanish).

         11                 MR. LUDVIK:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Dr.

         13  Stewart.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Good

         15  morning.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Gentlemen, you have

         16  spoken about this new regulation. What is your

         17  government's position on this new regulation, have

         18  you discussed this with your government?

         19                 MR. NAUTH SUKHRAJ:  Certification in

         20  Guyana presently it is not supported by legislation,

         21  but the practices embodied by certification is

         22  definitely supported by everybody. The Forestry

         23  Commission, which basically manages the State Forest

         24  as State have very good code of practice for its

         25  operations.  And I think that the practices that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  have been going on for over a number, for over the

          3  past years, and the state in which the forest is,

          4  which is a very good state, is an indication that,

          5  you know, we have recognized the fact that we are

          6  the ones that need to take care of the forest.

          7                 In our National Forest Policy you

          8  will find that the government encourages

          9  certification as the marketing tool, basically to

         10  assist in development and for companies to have

         11  access to markets that are requiring certified

         12  forest products.  We have the process, an ongoing

         13  process that hopefully will lead to the development

         14  of a National Standard for Forest Certification.

         15  This is being supported by UNDP Profor (phonetic),

         16  so it's an agreement between UNDP and the government

         17  of Guyana, where the executing agency is the Guyana

         18  Forestry Commissioner with basically a stakeholder

         19  forum that is addressing the whole issue of Forest

         20  Certification.

         21                 So definitely in Guyana we have a

         22  very good consultative process going on, of which

         23  the government is a part of that process and they

         24  support the process.

         25                 MR. DALY:  I would like to mention
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          2  two countries, Brazil and Guatemala who have both

          3  used FSC certification as a way to make sure that

          4  the timber production is sustainable.

          5                 As Hank Cauley mentioned, earlier

          6  this year, Brazil shut down their mahogany trade for

          7  everything except that which was certified, because

          8  they knew that that was going to be managed in a

          9  responsible manner.  So they felt like they could

         10  turn to the Forest Stewardship Council certification

         11  process as a way to make sure that those forestry

         12  practices are sustainable.

         13                 Guatemala has done something very

         14  similar with mahogany production in the Penan

         15  (phonetic), which is the northern part of Guatemala.

         16    If you are going to cut mahogany you have to have

         17  FSC certification to get a government concession.

         18                 And I would also like to say to your

         19  question, I think that we would agree that there are

         20  a lot of people practicing good forestry in Latin

         21  America and elsewhere.  And we want to make sure

         22  that they can be recognized some way.

         23                 And like Rufino was saying, they do

         24  not find it very burdensome to become certified

         25  because they are already managing their forest well,
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          2  as you had said.  And now consumers like New York

          3  and like myself can recognize that they are

          4  producing sustainable timber products.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  UNDP is the

          6  United National Development Program; is that

          7  correct?

          8                 MR. DALY:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, Council

         10  Member Yvette Clarke.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.  This is a very important hearing for so

         13  many reasons.  I really concentrated a lot of what I

         14  want to say and want to question on the Acting City

         15  Chief Procurement Officer's statement.  Because I

         16  found it to be somewhat contradictory.  And I found

         17  that as a City, we have an opportunity here, and we

         18  also have an obligation to lead the way in

         19  progressive procurement practices as one of the

         20  major purchases of products in the United States.

         21                 The Administration has cited their

         22  concern about the New York State General Municipal

         23  Law.  And they say, and I quote here, "that this

         24  circumstance which requires the City to purchase

         25  certified wood that is more expensive," and I
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          2  underscore expensive, "the non- certified wood of

          3  the same quality violates the New York State General

          4  Municipal Laws requirement that the City award

          5  contracts to the lowest responsive and responsible,"

          6    and I underscore responsible, "bidder."  And you

          7  know just sort of putting this in the context of

          8  being a global neighbor and a global partner, I'm

          9  wondering how are we actually defining expense, and

         10  at whose expense are we finding this expensive?

         11                 Because if, in fact, we are

         12  considering ourselves global partners or

         13  participants, it seems that we are finding the

         14  cheapest way out at the expense of nations who rely

         15  on this as a major industry for their growth and

         16  development.  So I find that somewhat contradictory,

         17  I think, it is very parochial of us to respond in

         18  that way.

         19                 And I would like to hear from the

         20  gentleman who have traveled from abroad, and those

         21  of you who have seen the impact of not being able to

         22  really get a handle on the forest industry abroad.

         23  What kind of expense are we really talking about

         24  here, and at what cost is it to us as a global

         25  partner not to embrace this certification?
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          2                 MR. DALY:  Yes, I would just say, you

          3  know, I agree with you completely.  The social and

          4  environmental problems associated with unsustainable

          5  timber harvesting are certainly far reaching and

          6  varied in countries like Burma or Meonawa (phonetic)

          7  we are finding child in forest labor, illegal

          8  logging is prevalent all across the world.

          9  Indonesia estimates about 70 percent of their total

         10  timber production is illegal.  And not only does

         11  that mean that indigenous lands and tenure rights

         12  are being abused, but local governments are not

         13  getting money into their coffers that could help the

         14  citizens of those areas.

         15                 Ecosystem destruction and unsafe

         16  working conditions are certainly other problems

         17  associated with unsustainable logging, again,

         18  throughout the world.  And we are trying to make

         19  sure that New York City and consumers have the

         20  opportunity to do the right thing, as they have done

         21  on many issues in the past, like as the Chair

         22  mentioned, the apartheid laws.

         23                 MR. NAUTH SUKHRAJ:  I think this is a

         24  very good opportunity for New York City to play a

         25  major role in contributing to the development of
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          2  countries, such as ours, Guyana.  By supporting this

          3  bill, you are going to, again, you are ensuring, or

          4  you are recognizing the fact that, you know,

          5  companies and countries have been trying their

          6  utmost best to operate within an acceptable manner.

          7  In doing so these countries have also made

          8  sacrifices to preserve their forest and have it in a

          9  good state.

         10                 You have mechanisms in place that

         11  does not allow for over harvesting, et cetera.  So

         12  that needs to be recognized somewhat, and even if it

         13  means paying a small premium.  The more you are

         14  paying a premium, what you are doing, is that you

         15  are allowing these companies or you are giving them

         16  access to a very important market.  And that in

         17  itself is very good.

         18                 I mean, we have companies, you have

         19  companies that have won national awards for

         20  excellent products, et cetera.  In the country where

         21  it is finding it difficult because of the standard

         22  and the trades adhered to, is finding difficult to

         23  access markets because they have to compete with

         24  probably some company that goes and cut virtually

         25  everything clear from the forest, whatever, so there
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          2  might be a variance in cost, et cetera.

          3                 But buying certified product, you are

          4  going to recognize good practice, and you are, I

          5  think, going to contribute significantly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I just wanted

          7  to - -  Oh, did you want to comment?

          8                 MR. CAULEY:  Yes, if I could, I think

          9  you really hit the nail on the head at whose cost is

         10  this taking place?  And I can tell two stories about

         11  where I have done a lot of work.

         12                 The first is in Indonesia, where FSC

         13  certification is the type of certification that

         14  forbids forest conversion from natural forests to

         15  plantations.  In Indonesia there has been a real

         16  problem with, you know, destruction of the Tropical

         17  Rainforest in putting up oil palm plantations.  You

         18  remember a few years ago where all this, the smoke

         19  clouds that were over, you know, Asia. Well those

         20  clouds, the size of those clouds, if imposed on the

         21  Untied States would be from Akronage to Miami.  And

         22  a lot of those clouds were started because of these

         23  conversion issues and FSC stops that.

         24                 The other story I want tell, is

         25  before coming onto the FSC I started a timber
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          2  company in Papua, New Guinea.  In logging, in

          3  general, there is a practice called selective

          4  logging, where you go into a forest and you select

          5  trees, you leave some of the best seed generators,

          6  you take out some and you leave a lot behind.  Well,

          7  for many of the companies that were operating and

          8  are operating in Papua, New Guinea that do not have

          9  FSC certification, there version of selective

         10  cutting was to clear whole hillsides float it down

         11  into the Bay and then take a boat along in the Bay,

         12  and, yes, we will select that one, and we will

         13  select that one over there.  That was there version

         14  of selective logging.

         15                 And this type of legislation, FSC

         16  certification prevents those types of practices from

         17  taking place.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Mr. Chair, I

         19  just wanted to say that what I have found is that

         20  whenever there is a need for change, there is always

         21  a significant amount of resistance.  And I think

         22  that when we make excuses for our own bureaucratic

         23  inefficiencies, we are in effect embracing a

         24  regressive and defeative losing mentality.  I think

         25  that we are a more advanced municipality than is
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          2  portrayed by the testimony of our Acting Chief

          3  Procurement Officer, and that we have a unique

          4  opportunity to put the infrastructure in place that

          5  will lead the way for this change and to serve as a

          6  catalyst for revolutionizing this industry.

          7                 That this Administration acknowledges

          8  that it promotes a healthy ecosystem in its own

          9  testimony says to me that we are prime for

         10  developing a future for generations to come to

         11  inherit and build upon.

         12                 I think this is a bill that whose

         13  time has come. And you know what we consider a

         14  premium today, and I have heard people talk about

         15  how much of a premium we are going to pay, actually

         16  becomes a practice for tomorrow.  And as this

         17  industry embraces certification, it just becomes a

         18  way of doing business, and the cost over time

         19  becomes just the cost of doing business, not a

         20  premium as such.

         21                 So I want thank all of you who have

         22  traveled from abroad, I represent a community that

         23  is very diverse in its immigrant population.  And so

         24  the whole issue of globalization and economies

         25  outside of ours hits home immediately.  And I think
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          2  when we look at the US, when we look at New York as

          3  a major purchasing power, we have to position

          4  ourselves and the stances we take, particularly in

          5  the use of our dollars, our tax levied dollars to

          6  enhance and enrich those who have come to enhance

          7  and enrich us here.

          8                 And so I want to encourage that folks

          9  really take a good look at the type of policies we

         10  put in place today and what it will mean for future

         11  generations to come.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I would like to

         14  recognize Joseph Addabbo, Jr., from the great

         15  Borough of Queens.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.  To the panel, I thank you for your time

         18  and testimony today.  And to those who did travel

         19  from abroad, we welcome you to New York, we hope you

         20  have a fine stay.  We hope you go shopping and enjoy

         21  our great city, and spend some money and help our

         22  economy.  And I do wish you a safe trip back, as

         23  well.

         24                 I am a sponsor of this legislation

         25  because I do believe that the intent and purpose of
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          2  this legislation does not compromise the City's

          3  practices.  And actually, also, that it does not

          4  compromise the environmental or economic progress

          5  that is to be made.

          6                 Considering that this proposed

          7  legislation, if to go forward, would be effective 90

          8  days after being enacted, does anybody in the panel,

          9  in the businesses that they represent, find it would

         10  be difficult to comply with this legislation within

         11  those 90 days?

         12                 Is that a collective no, or

         13  collective yes?

         14                 MR. LUDVIK:  I do not see any

         15  difficulty because there is so much progress that

         16  has been made already, at least I'm talking about

         17  the case in Mexico of having certified the forest.

         18  And therefore, one of the ideas of going this far

         19  was to be sure that there was a secure base of

         20  supply, because we would not want say an opportunity

         21  like this to come along and then not be able to

         22  respond to it.

         23                 MR. NAUTH SUKHRAJ:  I think rather

         24  than being a hinderance, I think if the legislation

         25  goes through probably 90 days or so, it is going to
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          2  be a real help rather than a hinderance.

          3                 MR. CAULEY:  I would just add that

          4  there are 75 million acres of FSC certified land

          5  right now, there is a lot of wood coming off that

          6  land.  Clearly, we have to increase the supply that

          7  is coming into the marketplace, but it is only

          8  through legislation like this that creates an

          9  incentive for more companies to get certified and

         10  move in this direction.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         12  very much.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Addabbo.  And I would like to also recognize a

         15  member of the Contracts Committee, David Yassky from

         16  the largest Borough in the great City of New York,

         17  the Borough of Brooklyn, Mr. Yassky.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. I'm sorry, you are Mr. Daly, or you

         20  are Mr. Daly?  You are from the FSC, you are from

         21  the FSC, okay.  I just wanted to try to understand

         22  the certification process that you administer, if it

         23  is administer.  Do you, you set forth principles

         24  that loggers should have to abide by, or should

         25  abide by, do you then also go, does your
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          2  organization actually certify a particular logging

          3  firm as being in compliance with the principles?

          4                 MR. CAULEY:  Yes, what the FSC does,

          5  is the FSC is a standard setting organization, but

          6  it is not a group of people sitting off in a room

          7  making those standards up themselves, it's a multi-

          8  stakeholder process.  So we have social justice,

          9  environmental groups, businesses, getting together

         10  to find those standards.

         11                 So FSC is first a standard setting

         12  organization. The second thing we are an

         13  accreditation organization, we accredit the auditors

         14  to go out and perform the audits.  So Rainforest

         15  Alliance, a New York- based organization has a group

         16  called Smart Wood that goes out and performs these

         17  or a scientific certification.  There are 12

         18  different certification bodies, we call them, they

         19  actually go out and perform those audits.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Oh, okay, so

         21  there are 12, I guess they are by large going to

         22  NGOs, or are - -

         23                 MR. CAULEY:  It's a mix of NGOs and

         24  businesses.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  That will
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          2  certify a company. And then you referred to, you

          3  said there are 75 million FSC certified acres, or I

          4  guess companies that have been certified, logging

          5  companies that have been certified by, as being

          6  compliant?

          7                 MR. CAULEY:  It's more like 75

          8  million acres worldwide, globally.  Right, and that

          9  represents a group of, oh, that would be some state

         10  land such as New York State, private companies, say

         11  Seven Island Land Company up in Maine.  You know,

         12  companies distributed all around the world.  There

         13  is about 12 million acres of certified in North

         14  America.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  What share is

         16  that of the total amount of acreage used for

         17  logging?  I do not know, is that one percent - -

         18                 MR. CAULEY:  No, that is a good

         19  question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: - -  or a

         21  quarter?

         22                 MR. CAULEY:  No, that is a good

         23  question.  Of the managed landscape and globally,

         24  there is about, I think they figure it is about 5 or

         25  6 percent is FSC certified at this point.  It is not
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          2  5 percent of the supply, it is 5 percent of the

          3  total managed landscape at this point.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.  Do you

          5  have a guess as to what percent it is of the supply?

          6    Is it lower than 5 percent or higher?

          7                 MR. CAULEY: It is significantly lower

          8  than 5 percent.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.

         10                 MR. CAULEY:  That is FSC certified at

         11  this point.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, because

         13  the non certified they are a lot more productive per

         14  acre, in terms of adding to supply.  I do not mean

         15  that as a value judgement, but you are saying that

         16  you cannot look at acreage because the ones that

         17  are, they harvest more per, which makes sense, I

         18  guess otherwise they would be in compliance with

         19  these standards.

         20                 MR. CAULEY:  Right, it's a whole mix

         21  of reasons. This is not business as usual.  The

         22  forest industry, as I am sure you will hear, has

         23  launched a similar type of program, and it is

         24  growing very rapidly as well.  But the FSC has set

         25  the standard globally for the most rigorous set of
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          2  standards that need to be out there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Has other

          4  jurisdictions, I apologize if somebody has addressed

          5  this, have other jurisdictions adopted the FSC

          6  principles as legally binding?

          7                 MR. CAULEY:  Let me refer to Ned, I

          8  think he would know better than I do.

          9                 MR. DALY:  No one has taken the step

         10  that New York is going to take right now.  There are

         11  some City regulations that would promote the use of

         12  certified timber in Santa Monica, in some other

         13  cities.  The State of New Jersey is looking at

         14  similar legislation for their Boardwalks, and

         15  probably the most significant would be the inclusion

         16  of the FSC standards in the LEEDs process, which is

         17  a national green building process.  And in a lot of

         18  areas if you become Gold Certified under the LEED's

         19  standard, you can get tax credits and stuff like

         20  that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  My one final

         22  question, and I do not know if anybody on the panel

         23  is an international trade law expert.  But are

         24  there, you know, are there WTO or a trade law

         25  concerns about legislation like this that it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  somehow, you know, favors one country over another?

          3                 MR. DALY:  Municipalities are not

          4  covered, municipalities in the United States are not

          5  covered by the government procurement agreement,

          6  which would be the relevant WTO agreement to what we

          7  are doing here.

          8                 The national, the federal government

          9  is, 37 states are, but no municipalities, so there

         10  would be no conflict there. There could be a TBT

         11  conflict which is another agreement, but I think it

         12  would be very, very difficult to bring that at this

         13  time.

         14                 At the next ministerial in Cancun,

         15  Mexico in 2003, the issue of standard setting and

         16  labeling will be looked at by the WTO.  But we feel

         17  very confident that the FSC certification process

         18  and municipalities and states adopting these

         19  standards will not present any conflicts.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And the acronym

         23  TBT, what is TBT, please, for those of us who do not

         24  know what that is?

         25                 MR. DALY:  Technical Barriers to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  Trade.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          4                 MR. DALY:  And very often that is

          5  related to production and processing methods.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Council

          7  Member John Liu from the great Borough of Queens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.  I just want to, first of all, I am

         10  completely flattered that a gentleman from Guyana

         11  and a gentleman from, two gentlemen from Mexico

         12  would join us this morning.  So thank you very much

         13  for coming to testify in front of our Committee.

         14                 This brochure that the Forest

         15  Stewardship Council has put together is very

         16  impressive.  And I guess I do have a couple of

         17  questions related to the work your Council does.  In

         18  terms of setting standards and certifying or

         19  accrediting various companies or countries in their

         20  practices, is the Forest Stewardship Council the

         21  only entity that sets these standards and certifies

         22  the appropriate entities?

         23                 MR. CAULEY:  Yes, at this, well,

         24  there are a number of certification schemes that

         25  have popped up in response to FSC certification.
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          2  The is a Pan- European System, there is Sustainable

          3  Forestry Initiative, there are a number of national

          4  initiatives in such places like Malaysia.  But the

          5  FSC is more or less the global leader in this

          6  effort.

          7                 The other programs have different

          8  parts of FSC certification, but the FSC is the only

          9  one that addresses that mix of social, environmental

         10  and economic issues.  And it is really the social

         11  issues that sets us apart.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Is the work of

         13  the FSC universally welcomed in all countries

         14  throughout the world?  Well, I would gather that the

         15  FSC is somewhat welcomed in Mexico and Guyana.  In

         16  fact, the gentlemen who are here from abroad, did

         17  you get an invitation from the City Council, or did

         18  you get an invitation from another source?

         19                 MR. LUDVIK:  No, it was from the

         20  Consumer's Choice Council.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I'm sorry.

         22                 MR. LUDVIK:  We were invited by the

         23  Consumer's Choice Council.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

         25                 MR. CAULEY:  And let me answer your
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          2  first question about is this uniformly accepted

          3  around the world in countries. There are FSC

          4  certified forests in 56 different countries.  Within

          5  those countries the feelings, as you can expect, are

          6  really mixed because this represents a change, it is

          7  a dramatic change.  You know, it's not business as

          8  usual.  So, you know, it is growing very rapidly,

          9  but, you know, not everybody likes it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Would you be

         11  able to certify all of the companies that log in the

         12  United States?

         13                 MR. CAULEY:  Most definitely not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And if that is

         15  true now, then I am just wondering what it would

         16  have been like 100 years when the United States was

         17  still in its developing stage, as are many other

         18  countries throughout the world.

         19                 MR. CAULEY:  It would have been much

         20  worse.  And that is why FSC is really having the

         21  most dramatic, incremental impact elsewhere outside

         22  of the United States.  Forest practices in the

         23  United States and Canada have improved dramatically,

         24  you know, over the last, even say ten years.  But it

         25  is really FSC is having this global impact is where
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          2  the big gain is.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:   I mean, this

          4  bill does not actually, it would not seem like this

          5  bill, oh, I guess this bill would have to apply then

          6  to the companies that log in the United States as

          7  well.

          8                 MR. CAULEY:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  I do not

         10  think, I mean, I certainly am for regulating the

         11  global climate and purifying the air and protecting

         12  watersheds.  I mean who would not be.  And I think

         13  that the goal of this bill is laudable, but I would

         14  also remind my fellow members of the City Council,

         15  as well as the public here today, that in terms of

         16  these goals of regulating the global climate and

         17  purifying the air and protecting our watersheds that

         18  we have a lot of work to do on the local level as

         19  well.  I mean our City has had tremendous challenges

         20  protecting our own watershed. And as Americans we

         21  are a leading country, by far, in terms of the

         22  amount of pollution produced per capita.

         23                 So I think that if we pass this bill,

         24  I think we also need to look amongst ourselves and

         25  try to figure out what else we can do to achieve
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          2  these very noble goals of once again regulating the

          3  global climate, purifying the air and protecting

          4  watersheds.

          5                 Thank you very much, gentlemen.

          6  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I would like to

          8  thank the panel for coming this morning, and I

          9  appreciate your testimony.

         10                 The next panel, Mr. Newman.

         11                 MR. NEWMAN:  Justin Perry, Mike

         12  Burns, Kevin King, David Schaenbrod, and Rita

         13  Ferris.

         14                 Please raise your right hands?  Do

         15  you solemnly swear or affirm that the testimony you

         16  are about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

         17  nothing but the truth?

         18                 ALL:  I do.

         19                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your names

         20  and affiliations for the record, and begin your

         21  testimony.

         22                 MR. KING:  As we are getting

         23  organized here, let me just point out that we are

         24  delighted to be here in the great City of New York.

         25  As residents of the great City of New York and
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          2  residents of the great State of New York, as well,

          3  you have an all New York panel here and very glad to

          4  be here.

          5                 Mike, I believe you are going to lead

          6  off here.

          7                 MR. BURNS:  Yes, I will.  My name is

          8  Michael Burns. I am a Forester, and I'm also the

          9  Chair of the New York State Tree Farm Committee.  I

         10  represent more than 2,200 certified tree farms in

         11  New York State.  This includes 250 tree farms within

         12  the boundaries of the New York City Watershed, and

         13  additionally 125 properties that are owned by

         14  residents of the City of New York. For more than 60

         15  years Tree Farm has recognized and certified those

         16  landowners that practice multiple use, sustain yield

         17  forest management.  And the goal of Tree Farm has

         18  been to promote sustainable forestry on more acres

         19  and keep it there.

         20                 In your bill, Section 1 states, in

         21  part, "The City of New York shall engage in a policy

         22  of supporting ecologically sound forest practices."

         23  At this time there are five major Forest

         24  Certification Systems currently in use in the United

         25  States.  Tree Farm is the oldest, largest and most
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          2  cost efficient of these.  By using trained and

          3  certified volunteer forces, Tree Farm educates

          4  landowners on the benefits of forest management.

          5  The City of New York, through the Watershed Forestry

          6  Program, makes funding available to landowners for

          7  development of forest management plans on their

          8  properties.  These plans meet all the Tree Farm

          9  requirements and many landowners have taken

         10  advantage of this arrangement and had their

         11  watershed forests Tree Farm Certified. I do not

         12  understand why the City would now preclude itself

         13  from using the wood products produced on these same

         14  lands.

         15                 Additionally, in Section 1 of the

         16  bill as introduced, states that, "poorly managed

         17  logging operations enable development to spread in

         18  forest lands."  I believe this statement to be

         19  somewhat in error, it is my experience that economic

         20  pressures, most commonly in New York State, anyway,

         21  property, income or inheritance taxes force

         22  landowners to first over harvest their properties

         23  and then split them up and sell them.  In order to

         24  meet the standards forth in the bill, the average

         25  New York State landowner would have to spend $3,000
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          2  for the initial certification, with an annual

          3  recertification cost of another $1,000.  This works

          4  out to approximately $15,000 considering 12- year

          5  rotations between harvests.  I do not believe that

          6  these added financial pressures with no proven

          7  ability to recoup the cost, would slow either the

          8  parcelization of woodlands or do anything to deter

          9  poor forest management.

         10                 The Sustainable Forestry Initiative

         11  and the Pan European Council recognize Tree Farm as

         12  legitimate to certify responsibly managed forests.

         13  As do, many of the landowners, whose property

         14  protects the quality and quantity of the New York

         15  City water supply, as do many residents of New York

         16  City, such as the gentleman sitting to my left, Mr.

         17  David Schaenbrod.

         18                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  Thank you.  My name

         19  is David Schaenbrod.  I'm a Professor of New York

         20  Law School.  I teach Environmental Law.  I write

         21  books for Yale University Press on Environmental Law

         22  and regulatory matters.  I have written dozens of

         23  op- ed articles for the Wall Street Journal, the New

         24  York Times and other large circulation papers.

         25                 From 1972 to 1979, I was the Senior
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          2  Staff Attorney at the Natural Resources Defense

          3  Council, where I was the lead lawyer for the

          4  Environmental Movement to force EPA to get the lead

          5  out of gasoline, and the lead lawyer to force the

          6  Mayor and the City Council of this City to obey

          7  their obligations under the Clean Air Act.  When I

          8  was working at NRDC we had a project there that I

          9  was not personally involved in, it sought to

         10  encourage people to buy small wood lots and then

         11  manage them in a wise fashion.  Being a good

         12  environmentalist, I joined along, I have a 79- acre

         13  woodlot in Upstate New York that I have managed for

         14  up to 30 years.  I have put a lot of money into it,

         15  I have put a lot of physical labor into it.  It is

         16  beautiful, the State Department of Environmental

         17  Conservation uses it on its videotape to encourage

         18  farmers to develop their wood lots.  I am looking

         19  forward to being able to harvest that wood in a

         20  sustainable way, as I retire and supplement my

         21  income.

         22                 Were this law to become in effect,

         23  were it to be that I could not harvest any of my

         24  wood, except by getting FSC Certification, my wood

         25  lot will become completely worthless, because the
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          2  cost of certifying such a small wood lot, is such

          3  that those costs would exceed any revenue that I

          4  could get from selling those trees.

          5                 The net effect of the statute would

          6  be disastrous, because there has been a huge

          7  increase in forests in New York State, it has been a

          8  big success.  And that success has been driven in

          9  large part by the hope that the people would get

         10  revenue from being able to harvest their wood lots.

         11  You would take that incentive away, this is a well-

         12  intentioned bill, but it is stupid.

         13                 Now, even if you could carve out an

         14  exception for small wood lots, this does not make

         15  sense.  What makes anybody think that the New York

         16  City Council could do a better job in managing local

         17  forests than the local governments that are

         18  involved.

         19                 Take my town, is it that you think

         20  that the people there are unenvironmentally

         21  insensitive?  No.  My neighbors would feel that you

         22  were condensing to them and being bigoted against

         23  them, if you thought that.

         24                 Is it you think our governments are

         25  unresponsive? Well where I live, Upstate, me or any

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  of my neighbors could call our Town Supervisor at

          3  day or night at home, and will be welcomed. I do not

          4  think that many members of the Upper Echelons of New

          5  York City Government have their phone numbers listed

          6  in that kind of way.

          7                 Is it that you think we are unfair to

          8  indigenous people?  Well our Town Supervisor is a

          9  Native American.

         10                 It seems to me rather than venturing

         11  off into areas about which the New York City Council

         12  frankly does not know a whole lot, and where I do

         13  not think you have a lot to contribute, there are

         14  land use and environmental issues that I think are

         15  important for you to get into.  As somebody who

         16  lives in New York City, and putting on my New York

         17  City hat, I am very much concerned about the fact

         18  that the New York City Land Use regulations add

         19  disastrously to the cost of housing in New York

         20  City.

         21                 Now I recognize that cutting through

         22  those problems to reduce the cost of housing in New

         23  York City to make it easier to build residential

         24  housing is difficult.  You are going to have to make

         25  controversial choices, you are going to lose votes,
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          2  as well as gain votes.  Whereas on this kind of

          3  deal, you are going to look good to a certain

          4  constituency, and the people that are badly affected

          5  are largely living in rural areas and do not vote

          6  here. But it seems to me that the reason that most

          7  people go into government is not to grub for votes,

          8  but to help their constituents.  And I think the way

          9  to help your constituents with their environments

         10  that most directly affect them, is to deal with the

         11  environment of New York City, and first and

         12  foremost, with the Land Use problems and Land Use

         13  regulations that are so bad for New York City,

         14  instead of exporting ULURP and the rest of it to the

         15  rest of the world.

         16                 MR. PERRY:  On behalf of Richard

         17  Coombe, Chair and CEO of the Watershed Agricultural

         18  Council, the New York City Watershed Incorporated,

         19  I, Justin Perry, Forester for the Watershed

         20  Agricultural Council am honored to have the

         21  opportunity to testify at this hearing on proposal

         22  Intro. 108.

         23                 The mission of our 501c3 is to assist

         24  the agriculture and forestry communities in adopting

         25  operational and management techniques that protect
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          2  water quality, as well as enhance economic

          3  competitiveness and viability.  We operate a

          4  nationally recognized source water protection

          5  program, which develops and implements whole forest

          6  plans and whole farm plans in the New York City

          7  Watersheds. New York City wisely recognizes that

          8  well managed forests and farms are preferred land

          9  uses for watershed protection, instead of

         10  subdivisions with septic systems.            Forests

         11  cover more than three- quarters of the land area in

         12  the Catskill/Delaware Watershed, which is the source

         13  for approximately 90 percent of New York City's

         14  water supply.  Well managed forests provide the most

         15  beneficial land cover for water quality protection,

         16  while offering a basis for viable, rural economy in

         17  watershed communities.  The Watershed Forestry

         18  Program is a voluntary, incentive- based partnership

         19  initiative established in 1997 to help protect New

         20  York City's water supply from degradation resulting

         21  from poorly managed timber harvest, and to improve

         22  water quality through science- based management.

         23  Our program is designed to connected the day- to-

         24  day business decisions of forest landowners,

         25  foresters and loggers to water quality protection.
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          2                 Primary funding is provided by the

          3  New York City Department of Environmental Protection

          4  with substantial contributions from the USDA Forest

          5  Service and others.  Over 20 organizations partner

          6  with our program to deliver high- quality water to

          7  your constituents.

          8                 The goals of this bill are, indeed,

          9  laudable. However, they will severely limit the

         10  long- term viability and market opportunities to

         11  watershed forest products.  This market decline will

         12  lead to further forest fragmentation and

         13  parcelization.  Therefore, exclusive purchase of one

         14  certification standard will have an adverse effect

         15  on the forest industry.  High real property taxes,

         16  low forest products prices and urban sprawl

         17  pressures are threatening your forest and watershed.

         18    Our forestry program is committed to keeping well

         19  managed forest lands healthy and productive, while

         20  protecting water quality.

         21                 Your bill allows New York City to

         22  purchase only one standard certified wood.

         23  Unfortunately, little watershed forest land is

         24  producing certified wood products.  Over 32,000

         25  acres of watershed forest land have our forest
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          2  management plans in place. Virtually none of this

          3  land is certified, yet our management plans are

          4  nationally recognized for their watershed protection

          5  component and overall forest sustainability.  A

          6  sound approach would be to express a preference for

          7  certification in general, or broader, more inclusive

          8  certification including FSC, SFI, Tree Farm and our

          9  own Watershed Forest Management Plan.

         10                 The bill favors recycled plastics

         11  over wood products, this is a mistake.  Numerous

         12  scientific studies have shown a well managed

         13  harvested forest yields the largest quantity and

         14  quality of water per acre.  Our forest need a market

         15  for low grade wood products and the outstanding

         16  high- quality wood products we produce.  I would

         17  urge the City Council to expand your certification

         18  eligibility and to include the use of New York City

         19  Watershed Forest products produced from land with a

         20  Watershed and Forest Management Plan in place.  This

         21  would make our watershed forest more profitable and

         22  keep your water clean.

         23                 MR. KING:  Ladies and gentlemen of

         24  the Committee it is a pleasure to be here with you

         25  today.  My name is Kevin King. I am Executive Vice-
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          2  President of the Empire State Forest Products

          3  Association.  I am, in fact, the life- long resident

          4  of the State of New York and have spent my entire

          5  professional career working in New York State in

          6  forestry matters, in forestry issues.  I represent,

          7  the Association I represent is a non- profit trade

          8  association representing forest landowners and

          9  forest wood using businesses across the State of New

         10  York.  We are active in promoting good stewardship

         11  through a variety of programs, we sponsor the New

         12  York State Tree Farm Program, we are affiliated with

         13  the New York Logger Training and Train Loggers'

         14  Certification Program.  We are the host organization

         15  for the Sustainable Forest Initiatives, State

         16  Implementation Committee, and also add that we spend

         17  a lot of time working in behalf of your watershed

         18  promoting good forest management practices, and the

         19  development of the Watershed Forestry Program that

         20  Justin just spoke about.

         21                 As such we have got a strong

         22  familiarity, long history promoting forestry

         23  practices and programs here in the Empire State that

         24  make positive contributions to water quality,

         25  recreation and wild life habitat, as well as provide
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          2  a sustainable supply of raw material that we use in

          3  our every day lives.

          4                 Our view of this bill is that you

          5  have a very well intended piece of legislation.  It

          6  is something that we agree with in its goals, but

          7  unfortunately, have to disagree with the approach

          8  being taken.  The proposal, the chain- of- custody,

          9  very specific, the chain- of- custody requirements,

         10  also some of the language in Section 2 concerning

         11  eligibility requirements narrowly focuses this bill

         12  in such a way that only the Forest Stewardship

         13  Program, as laudable as that program is, could meet

         14  the nature of the bill.  We think that is

         15  unfortunate, and as you have heard, there are a

         16  variety of other programs that apply, quite

         17  effectively here to our local forest land- based, to

         18  our local ownership patterns that we feel ought to

         19  be encouraged and deserving of the same treatment.

         20                 You have also noticed, I think got a

         21  sense that the reaction by many of our landowners

         22  and forest businesses are not a positive one to the

         23  kind of proposal that is being suggested.  And I

         24  think they can be easily overcome though, I think

         25  some recognition, some appreciation of those
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          2  efforts.  There is a tremendous amount of it going

          3  on throughout the businesses with the individual

          4  landowners that I work on a day- to- day basis.

          5  Even so, one piece that I have offered with the

          6  testimony, you will see there is an attachment,

          7  identifying forested acreage in the State, as well

          8  as the amount of land that is in the various

          9  certification programs.  You will notice that there

         10  a tremendous amount of acreage involved in those

         11  various certifications.  I believe we have estimated

         12  somewhere in the neighborhood of 2.2 million acres

         13  of the State's entire forested acreage, which is 18

         14  and 1/2 million acres, as represented in one of the

         15  various certification programs.

         16  Still that only represents a very small portion, on

         17  private lands it is something of maybe single

         18  digits, 7, 8 percent of the total land base in this

         19  State.

         20                 I would suggest that by including and

         21  taking an inclusive approach of these various

         22  efforts, recognizing those efforts of those

         23  landowners, recognizing the competitive environment

         24  that our businesses, our local manufacturers are

         25  trying to compete in right now, I think you would do
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          2  a lot to achieve your objectives.  You would set up

          3  a bar that is high enough to make some progress to

          4  work towards, and we would encourage you to think in

          5  that direction.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MS. FERRIS:  Well good afternoon.  My

          8  name is Rita Ferris, and I am the Legislative

          9  Director for the Northeastern Retail Lumber

         10  Association.  Basically, we are an association that

         11  represents independent lumber dealers throughout the

         12  northeast. Our competitor, I guess, is the Big Box,

         13  the Lowes and the Home Depot's of the world.  We are

         14  mostly family- owned businesses.  We have 56

         15  businesses in the Metropolitan area.

         16                 Basically, the Northeastern Retail

         17  Lumber Association is opposed to this bill.  We

         18  wholeheartedly encourage, endorse and want to

         19  proactively promote the use of certified wood. Our

         20  biggest problem with the bill is basically that only

         21  one system qualifies for certified wood, as the

         22  requirements are laid out in this bill.

         23                 As suppliers, supply is our biggest

         24  concern, and you heard Hank Cauley talking a little

         25  bit earlier about how 3 to 5 percent of the world's
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          2  supply is FSC certified.  That is not even what is

          3  harvested.  So the supply is much, much lower and we

          4  are concerned about where is all of this lumber

          5  going to come from.

          6                 We think that New York City is

          7  missing a huge opportunity by narrowing it down to

          8  one system only.  We would love to see the City of

          9  New York become the nation's largest consumer of

         10  certified wood product, but we do not see how that

         11  is going to happen with the way the bill is

         12  currently drafted.  So we would like to see a couple

         13  of changes.

         14                 I wanted to answer Councilman Liu's

         15  concern about the harvesting in the United States,

         16  just to explain a little bit about how this works.

         17  In the United States, 59 percent of the land is

         18  owned by non- industrial landowners.  These are your

         19  mom and pop operations.  The average acreage is 17

         20  acres.  Basically, when these guys harvest their

         21  lumber, they do not have a lot to harvest. Smaller

         22  lots bring in smaller money, which means

         23  certification cost a lot more money.  Some of the

         24  certification systems are easier for them to, well,

         25  less expensive really for them to participate in,
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          2  like Tree Farm, like SFI.  FSC is very expensive,

          3  and so they are really not good candidates to get

          4  into that system.

          5                 And I think we really want to do

          6  things here to promote the largest participation in

          7  the wood certification scheme as possible.  So

          8  therefore, this is just one more reason why we would

          9  like to see this opened to other certification

         10  systems.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well thank you.

         13    Council Member Yvette Clarke.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I want to

         15  thank all of you for your testimony here today, and

         16  I hear your opposition to this law or this bill as

         17  proposed.  I would like to just remind everyone that

         18  what we are talking about here is really the

         19  procurement practices of the City of New York.  And

         20  it is truly a procurement matter where we are

         21  looking and we are recommending a way that we can

         22  use our purchasing power to reform an industry that

         23  has really caused adverse reactions, not only here

         24  in the State, but of course, throughout the world.

         25                 I just want to ask those of you who
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          2  have opposed or see some need for modification here.

          3    You speak of the local competition and apparently

          4  your opposition is to the preferred system of

          5  certification as written in this bill.

          6                 Are you currently competing with

          7  uncertified and irresponsible companies, and how was

          8  that impacted, and do you see a nexus in the systems

          9  that you currently use for certification and the one

         10  that is recommended by the Forest Stewardship

         11  Council?

         12                 MR. KING:  You have some very good

         13  questions.  I think very clearly, without a doubt,

         14  the amount of global competition in wood using, in

         15  the manufacture of wood and paper products is

         16  tremendous today.  We have seen a tremendous decline

         17  in our own manufacturing capabilities throughout New

         18  York State, that is true in a lot of areas.  But it

         19  has been particularly true in forest and wood

         20  products.  A lot of that competition comes from

         21  areas that do not compete on the same basis with the

         22  same level of restrictions, nor do they elevate

         23  themselves to the same level of standards that we

         24  meet here in New York State.

         25                 So my suggestion to you is, yes, that
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          2  is the extent of illegal logging that goes on

          3  throughout the world, it is a problem, it is

          4  competitive problem for many of our manufacturers as

          5  well.

          6                 To the extent that certification can

          7  help this issue, I think revolves around, again, an

          8  inclusive approach that allows our producers the

          9  variety of the ownership patterns, the kinds of

         10  trees we grow, the topography we work in, lends

         11  itself to a variety of systems.  I do not know we

         12  have a one size fits all approach that would be

         13  successful here.

         14                 And I think if you look at each one

         15  of these programs, they are largely complimentary.

         16  Some large landowners who have the resources have

         17  chosen to enroll in more than one certification

         18  program for various reasons.  I do believe they all

         19  work to the same goals.  I think if you take a

         20  closer look at them, sometimes they do it a little

         21  differently, but each one of them does head,

         22  largely, in the same direction.  And an inclusive

         23  approach that would recognize all of them, would by

         24  in large allow a level playing field for our

         25  producers, our landowners to participate in your
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          2  market here in New York City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Council

          4  Member Stewart.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Good

          6  morning, gentlemen.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  There is a

          8  woman there, also.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And lady.

         10  Thank you for coming.  I have a simple question that

         11  I feel that you, based on what you have just said.

         12  Do you understand that what we are talking about is

         13  global, it's a global economy?  And since the bill

         14  seeks to protect the ecosystem, be it the watershed,

         15  the forestry and the global warming, et cetera.  Do

         16  you not think that the size that you mentioned a

         17  while ago, will encourage abuse and thus the greater

         18  need for oversight?

         19                 MR. BURNS:  I do understand that,

         20  yes, it is a global issue.  But at the same time I

         21  understand that that gorgeous desk that Chairman

         22  Jackson is sitting behind is cherry, this big desk

         23  right there, it looks to be made out of black

         24  cherry, which does not grow in Guyana and it does

         25  not grow in Mexico, it grows and it is harvested
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          2  here in New York State, in Pennsylvania, and in West

          3  Virginia.

          4                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  Yes, I mean,

          5  obviously you know everything is connected to

          6  everything else, so in a sense everything is global.

          7    The question is, is to what extent is the New York

          8  City Council, a competent or an appropriate

          9  authority to try legislate on these global issues.

         10                 Now I understand that procurement

         11  powers provide a legal hook, but legal hook does not

         12  add up to legitimate area of operation when you, I

         13  think you have much more pressing things to do.

         14                 Beyond that, it seems to me that the

         15  analogy that has been used here to apartheid is all

         16  wrong.  With apartheid, the victims of apartheid

         17  could not vote.  In Upstate New York, we vote. In

         18  many other countries we vote, and I agree with

         19  Councilwoman Lopez when she says there is something

         20  condescending about thinking that New York City, the

         21  New York City Council has to straighten out the

         22  problems in Guyana, Mexico or elsewhere.  She asked

         23  the witnesses from the last panel why they do not

         24  press these matters at the local level.  She never

         25  got an answer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, but

          3  what I would like to know is in the response is

          4  that, since you are within those regulations, since

          5  if you are going to produce that redwood or that

          6  mahogany, or whatever you are producing in a small

          7  area, whatever area, and you are within the

          8  guidelines to replace and to make sure that trees

          9  are replanted, et cetera, why should you oppose this

         10  legislation, why should it be something that you do

         11  not like?

         12                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  The reason is that

         13  to comply with this legislation, I would have to

         14  spend so much money per year on certification that

         15  it would exceed the revenue I get from my trees.

         16  Which would take away from me any incentive I have

         17  to be tree farmer.  If the movement in this country

         18  was going to be in this direction, then anybody like

         19  me who owns a small wood lot, the only sensible

         20  thing to do is to cut it off immediately, cut it

         21  down now, which is exactly what you do not want.

         22                 MR. BURNS:  Let me offer another

         23  explanation, I do not think there is, we are not

         24  making your life easy, I guess in some ways that

         25  there are some approaches here that do not reconcile
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          2  in terms of what you are trying to accomplish

          3  perhaps elsewhere versus what the impacts might be

          4  locally.

          5                 I think the easy answer to your

          6  question is that we want to be able to participate

          7  in your market, we want to be able to provide you

          8  with wood products from Upstate New York, from the

          9  Adirondacks, from the Catskills, that I think we all

         10  treasurer and enjoy and have provided scenic beauty,

         11  maintain the watershed, done things in the right

         12  way, we want to have access to that market, we need

         13  to have access.  We are struggling to remain

         14  competitive in a global marketplace, any reduction

         15  or loss of market access is a problem for our

         16  producers and for our landowners.

         17                 So unfortunately we are probably not

         18  making the issue an easy one, but it does have a

         19  local impact as well.

         20                 MS. FERRIS:  I guess from the retail

         21  lumber perspective we are slightly different.

         22  Certainly, we understand the importance and

         23  significance of participating in a global market,

         24  and I think that is why we do recommend that this

         25  wood certification definition be opened up to
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          2  include other systems that do participate in the

          3  world.  There is a Pan- European Wood Certification

          4  System that is widely used, that should be allowed

          5  so New York City has the opportunity, since there is

          6  such a small amount of certified wood available to

          7  purchase from other systems that are verified by

          8  independent parties.  So we actually support that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I am not too

         10  sure that I got a clear and defined answer in the

         11  sense that, you are saying that you are doing the

         12  things that this bill is doing already, which is

         13  protecting the watershed and the entire ecosystem.

         14  You are doing that already, but you do not want this

         15  bill because it is going to cost too much to you?

         16                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  The problem is the

         17  paper work, not the protecting the environment.  The

         18  paper work on this is what is the prohibitive

         19  expense, as far as I'm concerned, and that would be

         20  true for thousands of other small lot, wood lot

         21  owners.  And, you know, the fact is that in this

         22  State we have more land in forest than we did any

         23  time in the 20th Century.  There has been a huge

         24  growth in forest in New York State.  And in those

         25  forest is encapsulated tremendous amounts of carbon
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          2  dioxide that otherwise would be warming the planet.

          3  So there has been a great success here.  And the

          4  success is driven in part by the desire of people to

          5  be able to have wood lots as an investment.

          6                 And by cutting off that economic

          7  incentive, you are going to be doing real damage to

          8  the environment, because of the paper work, the cost

          9  of the paper work you require.  Just like the paper

         10  work that is part of the New York City Land Use

         11  Regulations add so much to the rent cost in New York

         12  City.

         13                 I would rather see you work on that.

         14                 MR. KING:  And I'm not taking

         15  objection to the FSC program or your efforts of what

         16  you are trying to do in here.  I'm suggesting that

         17  what we would like you to do is look at a more

         18  inclusive approach to recognize some of the systems

         19  that we are already comfortable with, we are working

         20  with that achieve the same goals, that accomplish

         21  the same intent as were articulated in this bill.  I

         22  think you can do that, and I think you can still

         23  achieve your other objectives too.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  I'm

         25  sorry, what is your name, Sir, the second gentleman?
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          2                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  David Schaenbrod.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  David, Mr.

          4  Schaenbrod, I believe you called, or you believe our

          5  legislation, proposed legislation is stupid, is that

          6  correct?

          7                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  I wish I had used

          8  the phrase counterproductive.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Oh, okay.  I

         10  mean, obviously, you are entitled to your opinion,

         11  but you know, I have listened to all of the

         12  testimony of this particular panel as to the

         13  previous panel and the Mayor's Office of Contracts.

         14  And also you have indicated that the analogy that I

         15  made to apartheid is wrong.

         16                 Well I think that, I do not believe

         17  it's wrong, I think you may have a different

         18  opinion.  I looked at it from the point of view of

         19  that the people of this great State and our

         20  representatives were trying to obtain a goal, and

         21  the goal was to end apartheid.  And to use whatever

         22  resources it had in order to achieve that goal.  And

         23  I look at this particular bill as us, in the City,

         24  if it is passed into law, in attempting to achieve a

         25  goal.
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          2                 Now is it acceptable to all?  We

          3  hope, ideally it would be, but it may not be.  And

          4  if, in fact, we as a Council determine that that is

          5  what we want to do, all things considered, then that

          6  is a prerogative to do that as a City Council.  We

          7  are the legislative body, and the people of New York

          8  City elected us. And they elected us to do the best

          9  that we can do on behalf of the citizens of New York

         10  City, all things considered.  And are we going to do

         11  all of the right things all of the time, I do not

         12  think so. But we are going to try to do that to the

         13  best of our ability, and I think that is what I am

         14  trying to do as a Chair of this Committee.  And I

         15  have not voted for this particular bill, as of yet,

         16  and the City Council has not either, even though I

         17  am a prime sponsor of it, but I am still open.

         18                 But I do take exception to, and I

         19  think you pulled back on it.  I do not think this

         20  bill is counterproductive, I think it is a good

         21  bill.  I think in listening to your particular

         22  panel, that if you had your way, that the bill

         23  should be more inclusive. And I hear you loud and

         24  clear on that, whether or not that happens is

         25  another question, but I hear you loud and clear.
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          2  And I am thankful for the opportunity to hear why

          3  you feel it should be more inclusive, and I am going

          4  to be communicating with the staff of the City

          5  Council to see if that is possible to happen.

          6                 But you say all of you are New York

          7  State residents, some of you are New York City

          8  residents.  I went to SUNY, New Pauls and that is

          9  right at the foot of the Catskill Mountains.  And I

         10  love Upstate, believe, and I want to make sure that

         11  the watershed is protected for New York City,

         12  because if it is not, then New York City would have

         13  to build a $6 billion, what is it, even higher.  So

         14  I think that, you know, I do not think that we, as a

         15  City Council, should go into this with our heads in

         16  the sand or a one- track mind as far as this

         17  particular bill.  And I'm not going in it, looking

         18  at in that particular way.

         19                 But I appreciate the opportunity for

         20  all of you to come and testify.  But I also heard

         21  you initially say that, you know, I got the

         22  impression that it was cost, and then later on, I

         23  got the impression, at least, from one or two of you

         24  that it is the onerous paper work that is involved

         25  in the certification process. Is it one or the
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          2  other, or it is a combination of both?

          3                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  Well I was speaking

          4  for myself, I was saying that in terms of the

          5  actual, physical practices I do, the bill would have

          6  no effect.  The problem is the cost of doing the

          7  paper work, of shuffling the paper.

          8                 But I did want to respond to your

          9  question about South Africa.  And by the way, I

         10  apologize for using the word stupid, it just an

         11  indication of my level of frustration.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I hear you loud

         13  and clear.

         14                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  And I know you had

         15  not voted on it, which is why I'm here, is to try to

         16  convince you.

         17                 But let me just say about the analogy

         18  to South Africa.  The fact that you were presuming a

         19  good goal there, an appropriate goal there, does not

         20  mean that all goals are appropriate or there are

         21  appropriate things for the City Council to do, as

         22  Councilwoman Lopez indicated, other governments, you

         23  know, have the capacity to function.  And it is

         24  condescending to them to assume that New York City

         25  can on an extraterritorial basis make life better in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  other states or in other locales.

          3                 Now it seems to me what makes

          4  apartheid different is the victims of it could not

          5  vote.  We vote in Upstate New York, people vote in

          6  Brazil, and that is why I think it is wrong for you

          7  to try sitting here in the New York City Council, to

          8  change practices around the world.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I think that,

         10  you know, if the practices change around the world

         11  as a result, as a consumer, and New York City as a

         12  consumer, and we purchase.  And if we feel that we

         13  want to purchase only goods that are made in the

         14  USA, that is our right to do.  If we want to - -

         15                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  It's

         16  unconstitutional.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well you may

         18  feel it is unconstitutional, but you know, if we

         19  feel that we want to have wood that is stamped,

         20  certified, FSC or certified for a certain standard,

         21  and the bill does not say that FSC is the only group

         22  that certifies, it does not say that.

         23                 MR. SCHAENBROD:  That would be the

         24  effect though.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  That may be the
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          2  effect, but the bill does not say that at all.  It

          3  said that any organization that can certify it for a

          4  certain standard.

          5                 But anyway, I, obviously disagree

          6  with some of your opinions as a landowner.  And I

          7  can understand the emotion. Because the emotion that

          8  you displayed concerning this particular matter, is

          9  the same type of emotion that I display when it

         10  comes to education.  And I do realize there are

         11  certain times that things come out of our mouths,

         12  you know, that we cannot pull back.  So I have been

         13  in your situation before.

         14                 But let me just say this, you do have

         15  a representative in the Association that I think

         16  communicates and articulates very well for all of

         17  the people that you represent.  So I thank you for

         18  coming in to give testimony this morning.  And I

         19  appreciate, and if anything else that you want to

         20  submit in writing as to, I think you suggested other

         21  ways to include, if you can put in writing and

         22  expand on that for consideration, we would really

         23  appreciate that, to share with the Committee, and if

         24  necessary the entire Council.

         25                 I'm going to call on Council Member
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          2  Yvette Clarke, and then Council Member David Yassky.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes, just

          4  before this panel is excused, I would also like to

          5  get, if possible, maybe the Association can help,

          6  using the example of this gentleman here, an

          7  analysis of what makes the paper work so expensive

          8  for say a farm of his size, so that we can get a

          9  sense.  Do you know what I'm saying?  Thank you.

         10                 MR. KING:  Let me offer the other,

         11  the landownership issue, and we will try to

         12  accommodate and respond to your question, request.

         13                 From the manufacturers perspective,

         14  one thing to note is that the ownership base is so

         15  diverse with small landowners, such as the gentleman

         16  here, we have a half million non industrial

         17  landowners in New York that own forest land.  They

         18  own 80 percent of the forest land in the State.

         19                 When a wood using business tries to

         20  buy wood, they are buying from all these half a

         21  million landowners, who are then selling to other

         22  agents, wholesalers, the chain- to- custody

         23  requirement embodied in this bill is near impossible

         24  to fulfill, if not impossible to fulfill under that

         25  ownership pattern.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes, that is

          3  why I wanted to sort of get the analysis, and

          4  believe me, my grandfather was a sugar cane farmer

          5  in Jamaica, so I can sympathize.

          6                 MR. KING:  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Good morning.

          8    I, and I apologize, I missed some of the

          9  testimony, but, so if you addressed this, just tell

         10  me.  Are there other certification initiatives other

         11  than FSC that you feel that do a better job?

         12                 MR. KING:  I am not prepared to

         13  suggest that any one of these certification programs

         14  is better than another.  I think they all have

         15  different attributes, different approaches.

         16  Sometimes they apply to different ownership

         17  patterns, different types of ownership.  I believe

         18  they all go to the same goal in promoting

         19  sustainable forestry.  And our position has been

         20  that that recognition ought to be included in this

         21  bill.

         22                 And frankly, as you look at the land

         23  base that exist in New York State, you would be

         24  recognizing basically the cream of the crop and

         25  encouraging people to participate more actively in a
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          2  variety of these programs that do promote

          3  sustainable forestry.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  So you are

          5  proposing that the bill be kind of broadened or made

          6  more flexible to permit acquisition by, you know,

          7  more than, by other certification programs, from

          8  suppliers that are certified according to one of

          9  these other standards?  And what are the main

         10  substantive differences between the FSC standards

         11  and the other standards that you think are more

         12  suitable?

         13                 MR. KING:  You are correct in the

         14  interpretation that what we are advocating, or what

         15  our Association has been promoting is that you can

         16  achieve the same objectives by taking an inclusive

         17  approach, including those other certification

         18  programs in this bill would help level the playing

         19  field, allow participation in the market, in New

         20  York City's market procurement, purchase of wood

         21  products by our local, New York manufacturers and

         22  New York Forest owners.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  How would you

         24  have to change the standards to do that?  In other

         25  words, what are the differences between the FSC
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          2  standards and the standards that you are talking

          3  about?

          4                 MR. KING:  Well there are two

          5  particular issues.  On the manufacturing side there

          6  is the chain- of- custody requirement that you need

          7  to know where that particular stick of wood comes

          8  from.  As I articulated earlier, the ownership

          9  pattern, the diversity and fragmentation of our

         10  ownership base is so diverse that it is near

         11  impossible, if not impossible, for our manufacturers

         12  to achieve that.

         13                 Second, - -

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  So what would

         15  a certification program be if it did not have the

         16  chain- of- custody, I mean, how what are they then

         17  certifying, that what, that somebody who certify,

         18  give me an example of a certification initiatives

         19    --

         20                 MR. KING:  Well the auditing process

         21  for some of the manufacturers involved versus

         22  unsustainable forestry initiative, involve with

         23  third party audit that looks at the procurement

         24  practices of that company.  That they are using

         25  trained loggers, that they are working with the
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          2  landowners to the extent that they know who those

          3  people are to promote regeneration, ensure sustain

          4  supply, and that they have professional trained

          5  people that are realizing those outcomes out there

          6  in the woods.  That is there is an audit process

          7  around that, they can achieve the results, and I

          8  think encouraging those sort of responses.

          9                 Tree Farm, you have a program that is

         10  a land- based program, that program has significant

         11  participation by our small landowners in the State

         12  is another example of a certification program.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  The first one

         14  is called Sustainable Forestry Initiative.  And what

         15  that does that looks at the wood processor, is that

         16  the right word for it, the wholesaler, they certify

         17  wholesalers?

         18                 MR. KING:  It would look at both the

         19  manufacturer, the primary mill, the mill is buying

         20  the wood, it would also look at the land- base.

         21  There is different levels, there is different ways

         22  to certify, certify a forest landowner, for

         23  instance, can be certified under SFI.  A

         24  manufacturing business can be certified under SFI,

         25  what you are certifying is different in terms of
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          2  ensuring that they have the proper practices in

          3  place that promote sustainable forestry.

          4                 We could provide you more detail and

          5  comparison information on the programs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  All right,

          7  thank you very much.  I think let's do that.  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well yes, you

         10  are going to be providing us with some details on

         11  that so we can read it?

         12                 MR. KING:  Yes.  I have got a running

         13  list here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         15                 MR. KING:  I'm going to do my best.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well thank you

         17  very much, and thank you for coming into testify.

         18  We appreciate it.  Okay.

         19                 MR. NEWMAN:  The next panel is

         20  Stephan Chenault, Kristen Earls, and Joan Roney.

         21                 Please raise your right hands?  Do

         22  you solemnly swear or affirm that the testimony you

         23  are about to give is the truth, the whole truth, and

         24  nothing but the truth?

         25                 ALL: I do.
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          2                 MR. NEWMAN:  Please state your names

          3  and affiliations for the record, and begin your

          4  testimony.  I know that one of you has video that is

          5  going to be shown during their time? Okay.  Who

          6  wants to start?

          7                 MS. EARLS:  My name is Kristen Earls.

          8    I work in Communications at the Rainforest

          9  Alliance, New York City- based, non- profit

         10  organization.

         11                 MR. CHENAULT:  Stephan Chenault,

         12  Sierra Club.

         13                 MS. RONEY:  Joan Roney, New York City

         14  Coordinator for Rainforest Relief.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Before you

         16  begin, under whose presentation is the video going

         17  to be shown?

         18                 MS. RONEY:  Mine is.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And how long is

         20  the video, may I ask?

         21                 MS. RONEY:  One minute.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Oh, okay.

         23                 MS. RONEY:  It's Jane Goodall, PSA,

         24  Public Service Announcement.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, very
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          2  good.  Thank you. Okay.

          3                 MS. EARLS:  Okay, hi, everyone.  Fist

          4  of all, thank you so much for this opportunity to

          5  speak in support of this bill. Kristen Earls from

          6  the Rainforest Alliance.  The Rainforest Alliance is

          7  a New York City- based, but an internationally

          8  operating non- profit organization that works to

          9  protect ecosystems and the people and the wild life

         10  that live within them by implementing better

         11  business practices for biodiversity conservation and

         12  sustainability.  We realize this mission by

         13  developing and implementing best management

         14  practices for natural resource- based activities,

         15  such as forestry, agriculture, and tourism.

         16                 The Rainforest Alliance pioneered

         17  sustainable forestry certification auditing forest

         18  product companies to ensure their compliance with

         19  vigorous environmental, social, and economic

         20  standards.  In ten years we have certified over 13

         21  million acres as certified worldwide, as well as

         22  700,000 acres of New York State Public Lands as

         23  meeting the international environmental standards of

         24  the Forest Stewardship Council.

         25                 Certification is a comprehensive
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          2  conservation tool that brings about tangible,

          3  positive change in the forest and in the communities

          4  that are linked to them, in corporate board rooms

          5  also, and in the purchasing decisions that are

          6  available to consumers.  The proposed legislation

          7  makes the connection between our purchases as

          8  consumers in New York City and the impacts on

          9  communities who supply raw materials worldwide.

         10                 Because more than six billion people

         11  rely on plants and trees to cook food, build houses,

         12  make furniture, mix medicines and stay warm, the

         13  pressures on the world's forests are staggering.

         14  More than 500 million of the world's poorest people

         15  live in and around forested areas, and nearly half

         16  of the world's forest are found in the tropics, in

         17  countries such as Brazil and Peru. Although tropical

         18  forests cover only 10 percent of the earth's

         19  surface, scientists believe they may contain as much

         20  of 90 percent of the earth's biodiversity.

         21                 Not only do tropical forests contain

         22  some of the highest levels of biodiversity, but they

         23  are occupied by some of the world's poorest people.

         24  This poverty is inextricably linked to deforestation

         25  to the devastating loss of forests around the globe.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  If no environmental and social welfare standards are

          3  applied, local communities that manage a large

          4  percentage of the available forest resources

          5  worldwide, may find incentives to destroy these

          6  resources for short- term gain.  Local communities

          7  and indigenous people everywhere are beginning to

          8  assert control over this land, a trend that is

          9  expected to accelerate over the next several years.

         10  While these world communities are increasingly

         11  responsible for forests, they often do not have the

         12  technical skills or necessary support to effectively

         13  manage them.  Sustainable forest management provides

         14  local people with the incentive to conserve forest

         15  resources and the knowledge and the tools to

         16  accomplish this task.

         17                 Markets that promote conservation,

         18  and use FSC certification as a tool, offer products

         19  that give consumers the power to influence how

         20  forests worldwide are treated, and protect the

         21  people living in and around them.  We believe that

         22  seeking third- party certification is essential as

         23  company claims of good practices are not enough to

         24  satisfy increasingly educated green consumers, and

         25  especially New Yorkers who feel a strong connection
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          2  to people and places in Latin America, among other

          3  regions.  In this way tapping the green market can

          4  be done responsibly and sustainably, and in a way

          5  that makes a statement to the nation. New York City

          6  has an opportunity to show its leadership as the

          7  first city to pass legislation, and the biggest

          8  budget to push this trend into common practice

          9  anywhere in the United States.

         10                 Certification is essential because it

         11  ensures the management of forests and the harvesting

         12  of timber in ways that offer environmental, social

         13  and economic benefits to local communities.  It

         14  creates market incentives for producers to adopt

         15  sustainable practices, and it brings consumers back

         16  into the loop, enabling them to conserve forests,

         17  protect biodiversity and the rights of indigenous

         18  peoples, and ensure fair wages and decent working

         19  conditions.

         20                 The Rainforest Alliance's Smart Wood

         21  program also ensures that wood from certified

         22  operations maintains its certified status throughout

         23  the many companies, which buy, sell, process,

         24  transport, or store it along the way to the final

         25  consumer through its chain- of- custody
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          2  certification.  This process, to address a point

          3  that was made earlier, is very simple, auditors

          4  simply evaluate a company to assess whether an

          5  adequate tracking system is in place both on paper

          6  and on the ground to ensure that certified wood

          7  materials will not be mixed with non- certified.

          8  This helps to ensure the integrity of the certified

          9  wood flow is not compromised.

         10                 The principles and criteria that

         11  Smart Wood certifies against are developed through a

         12  transparent and negotiated consensus process that

         13  involves all the stakeholders in forestry,

         14  scientists, conservationists, workers, community

         15  Leaders, government agencies, research institutions,

         16  consumers and, of course, the foresters themselves.

         17  FSC certification also encourages all three aspects

         18  of what we call the interlocking circle of

         19  sustainability, conservation, community and

         20  commerce. Certification is a tool to promote

         21  progress in all three areas. Certification through

         22  the FSC also requires complete audits on a yearly

         23  basis through our expertly trained specialists who

         24  conduct these on the ground audits.

         25                 In supporting this legislation, New
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          2  York City is working to ensure environmental and

          3  labor standards and helping to solidify the belief

          4  that effective business can incorporate conservation

          5  measures, making the connection that all New Yorkers

          6  have a role to play in supporting sustainable

          7  communities worldwide.  For this, we applaud New

          8  York City and wholeheartedly support this

          9  legislation.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. CHENAULT:  Good afternoon.  As

         12  Chairperson of the Good Wood Committee of the Sierra

         13  Club, New York City Group, and a concerned citizen

         14  of New York City who has worked for several years to

         15  establish selective purchasing legislation in New

         16  York City to protect forests, forest peoples and

         17  forest workers globally and locally, I would like to

         18  thank Robert Jackson, Chairman of the Contracts

         19  Committee, Speaker Gifford Miller, who introduced

         20  the bill, and the Contracts Committee of the New

         21  York City Council for holding this hearing on Intro.

         22  No. 108- A.

         23                 The City uses a huge amount of wood

         24  for such uses as boardwalks, park benches, decking

         25  for walkways, buildings and other purposes.  This
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          2  legislation provides a great opportunity for the

          3  City Council and New York City to take on a

          4  leadership role in forest protection, and the

          5  protection of forest peoples and workers by ensuring

          6  that wood purchased for New York City contracts for

          7  building materials and furniture will be from

          8  forestry operations that protect forests

          9  ecologically, as well as protect the rights of

         10  forest communities, indigenous people and forest

         11  workers.

         12                 The legislation will also promote the

         13  use of other environmentally preferable building

         14  materials, including those manufactured from waste

         15  materials thus helping to solve problems of solid

         16  waste and creating employment opportunities.

         17                 I have given for distribution a sign-

         18  on letter by many, many organizations that have

         19  expressed support for this legislation, and I would

         20  like to read, if you do not mind, those endorsing

         21  organizations:  The Adirondack Council; Adirondack

         22  Hardwoods/Saranac Hollow Woodworking, you will

         23  notice this is a manufacturer, an employer in New

         24  York State using wood that is supporting the

         25  legislation; American Indian Law Alliance; Center
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          2  for a New American Dream; Cherry Tree Association, a

          3  local grassroots group in the Bronx; Coalition

          4  Environment and Jewish Life; Consumer's Choice

          5  Council; Co- op America; El Puente; Environmental

          6  Defense; Friends of Brook Park Nature Preserve,

          7  another local organization in the Bronx; Friends of

          8  the Earth; Great Forest Incorporated; Greenpeace;

          9  Greenpoint Williamsburg Watch Person Project, an

         10  environmental justice group in Williamsburg,

         11  Brooklyn; Justicia Ambiental Latina; National

         12  Wildlife Federation; Natural Resources Defense

         13  Council; New York League of Conservation Voters;

         14  Rainforest Action Network; Rainforest Alliance;

         15  Resource Conservation Alliance; Sierra Club; South

         16  Bronx Clean Air Coalition; The Nature Conservancy of

         17  New York; West Harlem Environmental Action; World

         18  Wildlife Fund.  You will see a very broad based of

         19  national groups, environmental justice groups,

         20  supporting this legislation.

         21                 Let me say that Norma Ramos of

         22  Justicia Ambiental Latina has testified in support

         23  of this type of selective purchasing legislation in

         24  the past, she could not be here today because of a

         25  Board meeting, but expresses her support.
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          2                 Peggy Shepard also for West Harlem

          3  Environmental Action would have liked to have

          4  testified, she expresses her support.

          5                 And Samara Swanson of Greenpoint

          6  Williamsburg Watch Person Project also expresses her

          7  support, and they wanted me to do that.

          8                 So we have a very broad base of

          9  support.

         10                 I just wanted to address a few issues

         11  that came up in the last panel.  I wanted everyone

         12  to realize that this bill does support local

         13  sustainable forestry and local employment, 700,000

         14  acres of New York State Forest is certified, in this

         15  case by the Forest Stewardship Council.  And the New

         16  York State Forester thinks the Forest Stewardship

         17  Council is the certification program that he would

         18  like to go with right now.

         19                 The bill standards set forth in the

         20  bill, right now, I am happy to say are met by the

         21  Forest Stewardship Council. However, it does not

         22  specify the Forest Stewardship Council.  So any

         23  certification program that steps up to the plate and

         24  is willing to work according to these ecological,

         25  social justice standards can qualify.  And this bill
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          2  will hopefully give incentive to many, a wide array

          3  of forest programs to meet these high standards.

          4                 Also the issue of small landowners is

          5  being addressed through many programs of the Forest

          6  Stewardship Council, and they are working with small

          7  landowners, community forestry and we welcome a

          8  communication between the speakers in the past panel

          9  that had this concern, we certainly want to work

         10  with you to achieve some kind of certification

         11  system that can be marketed to the City.  So we will

         12  certainly keep that dialogue open.

         13                 A few other comments that I have

         14  prepared in the past.  Despite the ecological,

         15  cultural, - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is it possible

         17  that you could- -

         18                 MR. CHENAULT:  Okay, sorry.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm just trying

         20  to focus on a three- minutes.

         21                 MR. CHENAULT:  Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  When you hear

         23  the buzzer try to, participants in the future, try

         24  to sum up and wrap up, if you don't mind, we really

         25  would appreciate it.
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          2                 MR. CHENAULT:  Sure, okay.  Well then

          3  let me close there, and just say that it's only with

          4  the passage of Intro. No. 108 that the City can

          5  really be assured that wood products it purchases

          6  are coming from ecologically sound practices that

          7  are protecting indigenous people, protecting workers

          8  rights, and allowing New York City to act on its

          9  citizens desire to support ecology and social

         10  justice.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MS. RONEY:  Hi, my name is Joan

         13  Roney, and I am with Rainforest Relief, a Brooklyn-

         14  based organization that mission is to spare the

         15  earth's Rainforest from consumption.  We were the

         16  first organization that began to spearhead stopping

         17  New York City's use of tropical rainforest wood.

         18                 We all know that recycling is a

         19  buzzed word in this City Council.  Right now we have

         20  the ability to substitute recycled plastic lumber

         21  for tropical hardwoods and old growth woods, and in

         22  doing so create a closed- loop recycling program,

         23  which would convert plastic waste into a cost-

         24  effective alternative to tropical hardwoods.  Might

         25  I add that recycled plastic lumber over time costs
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          2  less, because there are very minimal maintenance

          3  costs.  We can halt deforestation an save plastic

          4  recycling with the same legislation.  At a time when

          5  both forests and New York's recycling program are in

          6  danger, this bill could provide a unique and

          7  necessary solution.

          8                 There are several well- respected

          9  companies, locally, in the tri- state area that

         10  convert plastics into recycled plastic lumber.  It

         11  would also be wonderful to see the construction one

         12  day of a recycled plastic lumber plant in New York

         13  City, which would reduce transportation costs and

         14  funnel money and work back into the City.

         15                 This closed- loop has another

         16  advantage, by reducing the waste stream we will

         17  reduce the need for waste transfer stations,

         18  landfills, incinerators, the majority of which are

         19  located in low- income communities.  We have the

         20  chance to promote environmental and economic justice

         21  both locally and globally.

         22                 Might I also add in reply to the

         23  Mayor's Office of Contracts on their suggestion that

         24  we could just encourage agencies rather than

         25  introducing a law.  We at Rainforest Relief and also
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          2  with the New York Environmental Law Project have

          3  foil the Parks Department, Department of

          4  Transportation, the MTA, the Mayor's Office for the

          5  last several years several times.  We foil the City

          6  with the expectation that we could find out how much

          7  wood the City gets, what species, what country and

          8  what companies?  We foil the agencies because we

          9  were not given info via phone and otherwise, or what

         10  have you.  However, after foiling the City and the

         11  State several times, we have yet to receive the

         12  info.  This is another reason why the City needs a

         13  strong bill, we cannot simply rely on the good faith

         14  of our City agencies and the Administration alone.

         15                 Now I would like to just introduce a

         16  one minute PSA. This was a Public Service

         17  Announcement, a collaboration between Jane Goodall

         18  and Rainforest Relief on New York's use of tropical

         19  woods and the benefits of recycled plastic lumber.

         20                 Jane Goodall, primatologist and

         21  environmentalist, was recently honored by Secretary-

         22  General Kofi Annan as a United Nations Messenger of

         23  Peace.

         24                 The following is a transcription and

         25  the PSA was made an produced in January 2001.
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          2                 (Video)

          3                 Jane Goodall:  The destruction of

          4  tropical rainforests is one of the issues that I

          5  feel very, very passionate about.  Something has to

          6  happen or else the wildlife of the great forests

          7  will be gone within the next ten to fifteen years.

          8                 In so many cases this wood from these

          9  beautiful trees is being used for things like

         10  railroad tracks, the ties, its being used for park

         11  benches.

         12                 There are substances made from

         13  recycled materials, like this block of wood- like

         14  looking stuff.  We do not need benches exposed to

         15  the weather to be made out of tropical hardwood.

         16                 If you have been in the forest, if

         17  you have seen these beautiful trees, if you have

         18  seen how life is entangled and supporting itself,

         19  then you would feel the same kind of pain that I

         20  feel when a tropical forest is destroyed.

         21                 MS. RONEY:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well thank you

         23  for your testimony.  Are there any questions?  Dr.

         24  Stewart.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, thank

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  you for your testimony, and thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3  The previous speakers, the panel just before you, I

          4  have tried to get this out of them as to why they

          5  object to this bill.  And their response was

          6  basically the cost and the paper work.  As someone

          7  who knows about it, can you tell me how valid is

          8  that response as far as paper work and the cost of

          9  getting certification?

         10                 MR. CHENAULT:  Well let me talk about

         11  the paper work aspect.  We really addressed that

         12  issue, especially in this version of the bill to try

         13  to reduce the amount of paper work that will be

         14  involved.  So that right now the way the bill is

         15  written, for example, what will have to be

         16  designated is a Forest Certification Program so that

         17  once we have the Forest Certification Program that

         18  meets the eligibility criteria, you will not have to

         19  go through a rigorous process of examining forests

         20  themselves or the various certification programs in

         21  particular.  But once in a creating body such as

         22  Forest Stewardship Council is deemed eligible, then

         23  you will know that any organization certifying under

         24  the auspices of Forest Stewardship Council they

         25  would be eligible.
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          2                 So we have streamlined the bill so

          3  that we do not feel there will be onerous, there

          4  will be some, of course, paper work, but not an

          5  unmanageable amount.  So we are very sensitive to

          6  that issue and we have tried to address it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Could you

          8  address the cost?

          9                 MS. EARLS:  I would like to address

         10  the cost, actually.  The Rainforest Alliance, where

         11  I am from, is an accredited certifier of the Forest

         12  Stewardship Council.  And people in the last panel

         13  had some really good points, and I think they just

         14  may be did not know about an option, a service of

         15  the FSC, which is called group certification.  And

         16  it is something to provide for exactly what those

         17  guys were talking about.  If you are a small

         18  landowner in the US or abroad, and you are

         19  interested in being certified but are wary of the

         20  costs, you can get together with a number of other

         21  people and purchase to be in the group

         22  certification, the cost is defrayed.

         23                 In fact, the FSC recently certified

         24  some land in Ontario, over 20,000 acres, 436

         25  different participants and about 1,200 different
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          2  parcels of land, the cost was approximately $68 a

          3  person, which is less than you might expect.  So I

          4  just wanted to throw that out there.  It is

          5  something that people are not aware of necessarily.

          6                 Additionally, the Forest Stewardship

          7  Council is the accreditor of a bunch of different

          8  certifiers.  Smart Wood, which is a program of the

          9  Rainforest Alliance being one of them.  And Smart

         10  Wood has as one of its objectives a real capacity

         11  building, sort of service built in.  We use a lot of

         12  private grant money and some fees from our bigger

         13  certifier clients to find some capacity building for

         14  small guys, internationally and here in the United

         15  States.  So we make it possible to make sure that

         16  everybody has access to certification, if they want

         17  it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         19  you have made it such an, you make my day, because

         20  those are the only objections I had.  And I feel you

         21  have just made my day.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you, I do

         23  not know if the representatives are here from the

         24  previous panel, the Association, if not, is it

         25  possibly that you could reach out and see whether or
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          2  not they were aware of that provision of FSC and

          3  whether or not they would qualify in order to see if

          4  the issues and concerns that they had could be met

          5  under your organization or your group?

          6                 MS. EARLS:  Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, well

          8  thank you very much.  Okay, well we thank you for

          9  testifying.  At this point in time, the Contracts

         10  Committee, we are going to take break and reconvene

         11  at 1:30.  I apologize, there is a bill signing

         12  ceremony that is being held by the Mayor on some

         13  procurement bills that we passed and the Mayor is

         14  going to sign them into law.  And so we are going to

         15  be participating in that process at 1;00.  So we

         16  will reconvene here at 1:30 and pick up.

         17                 Robert, is it possible that you can

         18  just call what the next two panels will be so people

         19  know where they are, is that okay?

         20                 MR. NEWMAN:  Sure.  The next panel

         21  will be Tom Tevlin and John Heissenbuttel.  And the

         22  panel after that will be Joseph  Murray and John

         23  Gosler.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, this

         25  meeting is recessed until 1:30, thank you.
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